GENERAL BY-LAWS OF THE TOWN OF MANCHESTER-BY-THE-SEA

Contents

ARTICLE I GENERAL PROVISIONS	3
ARTICLE II TOWN MEETINGS	
ARTICLE III DUTIES OF TOWN OFFICERS	10
ARTICLE IV TOWN PROPERTY, FINANCES AND CONTRACTS	13
ARTICLE V LEGAL AFFAIRS	16
ARTICLE VI FINANCE COMMITTEE	17
ARTICLE VII PLANNING BOARD	
ARTICLE VIII WATER AND SEWER COMMISSIONERS	19
ARTICLE IX RECORDS AND REPORTS	23
ARTICLE X POLICE AND OTHER REGULATIONS	24
ARTICLE XI CIVIL DEFENSE	54
ARTICLE XII EARTH REMOVAL	56
ARTICLE XIII PERSONNEL BY-LAW	63
ARTICLE XIV RESIDENT PARKING	65
ARTICLE XV FEES	
ARTICLE XVI HISTORIC DISTRICT BY-LAW	
ARTICLE XVII GENERAL WETLANDS BY-LAW	
ARTICLE XVIII UNDERGROUND FUEL STORAGE	
ARTICLE XIX COUNCIL ON AGING	
ARTICLE XX COMMUNITY PRESERVATION COMMITTEE BYLAW	
ARTICLE XXI AFFORDABLE HOUSING TRUST FUND	
ARTICLE XXII STORAGE OF COMMERCIAL MATERIALS AND VEHICLES	
ARTICLE XXIII STORMWATER MANAGEMENT	95
APPENDIX	QC

ARTICLE I GENERAL PROVISIONS

SECTION 1 These by-laws, adopted by vote of the Annual Meeting in 1949, shall be known as the "General By-laws."

SECTION 2 So far as the provisions of the General By-laws are the same as those previously existing by-laws, they shall be construed as a continuation of such by-laws, but subject to said limitation, all by-laws of the Town heretofore in force, excepting Zoning By-laws, are hereby repealed and any portion of any vote of the Town heretofore passed which is contrary to the provisions of these by-laws is hereby repealed; provided that this repeal shall not apply to or affect that portion of any by-law, vote or article heretofore adopted, accepting, adopting or exercising any option under the provisions of any statute of the Commonwealth; and further provided that this repeal and the adoption of these by-laws shall not affect any act done, any right accrued, and any penalty or liability incurred, or any suit, prosecution or proceeding pending at the time of such adoption; nor shall the repeal of any by-law have the effect of reviving any by-law previously repealed or suspended.

SECTION 3

SECTION 4 Enforcement

A. Criminal Complaint

Whoever violates any provision of these by-laws may be penalized by indictment or on complaint brought in the district court. Except as may be otherwise provided by law and as the district court may see fit to impose, the maximum penalty for each violation or offense brought in such manner shall be three hundred dollars (\$300.00)

B. Non-criminal Disposition

Whoever violates any provision of these by-laws, the violation of which is subject to a specific penalty, may be penalized by a non-criminal disposition as provided in M.G.L., Chapter 40, Section 21D. The non-criminal method of disposition may also be used for violations of any rule or regulation of any municipal officer, board, or department which is subject to a specific penalty.

Without intending to limit the generality of the foregoing, it is the intention of this provision that the following by-laws and sections of by-laws are to be included within the scope of this subsection, that the specific penalties as listed here shall apply in such cases, and that the municipal personnel listed shall be the enforcing agent. Each day on which any violation exists shall be deemed to be a separate offense.

1. General Wetlands By-law

Fine allowed: \$300

Enforcement agent: Conservation Administrator and Police Officers

Fine schedule:

	Buffer Zone	Wetlands Resource Area	Non-compliance with an Order of Conditions, Enforcement Order or Violation Notice
First offense	Warning (\$0)	\$ 50.00	\$100.00
Second offense Third and subsequent	\$ 50.00	\$150.00	\$200.00
offenses [Amended 2013]	\$300.00	\$300.00	\$300.00

2. <u>Harbormaster Regulations</u>

Fine allowed: \$25

Enforcement agent: Harbormaster; Assistant Harbormasters

Fine schedule: \$25 first and subsequent offenses

3. Water and Sewer Division Regulations

Fine allowed: \$300.00

Enforcement agent: Designated employees of the Water and Sewer Division Fine schedule: \$300 per violation. Every day constitutes a separate offense

4. Accessible Parking By-law [Added 1997, Amended 2003]

Illegal Parking:

Fine allowed: \$300.00

Enforcement agent: Police Officers

Fine schedule: \$100.00 for first offense; \$300.00 for each subsequent offense.

Failure to establish accessible parking spaces:

Fine allowed: \$100.00

Enforcement agent: Police Officers

Fine schedule: \$100.00 per violation. Every day constitutes a separate offense.

7. Nuisance Regulations

Fine Allowed: \$100 for the first violation

\$200 for the second violation

\$500 for the third and subsequent violations

Enforcement agents: Designated employees of the Police

Department and the Board of Health Agent. (Added 2002)

8. Printed Matter Vending Machines [added 2005]

Fine Allowed: \$100 for the first violation

\$200 for the second violation

\$300 for the third and subsequent violation

Enforcement agents: Employees of the Police Department designated by the Police Chief

SECTION 5	Except as otherwise provided by law, prosecution may be made by any police officer of the Town.	for offenses	under these by-	laws

ARTICLE II TOWN MEETINGS

- SECTION 1 The Annual Town Meeting shall be held on the fourth Monday in April of each year at 7 o'clock in the evening. [Amended 1991] (Amended STM 11.13.2023, Attorney General Approved 1/29/2024)
- SECTION 2 The meeting for the election of officers and for the balloting upon such matters as may be required by law to be determined by the use of the ballot, shall be held on the third Tuesday in May of each year, the polls to be opened at 7:00 A.M. and to be closed not earlier than 8:00 P.M. [Amended 1993, 2003]
- SECTION 3 The warrant for any Town Meeting shall be directed to any constable of the Town and notice of any Town Meeting shall be given by posting the attested copies of the warrant at the Town Hall, Post Office, Police Station and Engine House, twenty-one (21) days at least before the day appointed of the Annual Town Meeting and fourteen (14) days at least before the day appointed for a Special Town Meeting. At the time of posting, as herein provided, printed copies of the warrant for any Town Meeting shall be made available by the Select Board Members at their office for registered voters of the Town. At any Town Meeting, printed copies of the warrant and the recommendations of the Finance Committee shall be made available by the Select Board for all the voters attending said meeting. An article to be inserted in a warrant for a Town Meeting must be delivered to the Select Board, and a copy to the Secretary of the Finance Committee, sixty (60) days prior to an Annual Meeting and twenty-eight (28) days prior to a Special Meeting. At least seven (7) days before the Annual Town Meeting, an adequate supply of the warrant, the Annual Town Report and the Report of the Finance Committee shall be caused by the Select Board Members to be made available at the Town Hall, Library, Police Station, Fire Station and the Memorial School. At least fourteen (14) days before a Special Town Meeting, a copy of the warrant with the report of the Finance Committee contained therein shall be caused by the Select Board Members to be published at least once in a newspaper having a circulation in the Town or to be left at each occupied dwelling house and apartment in the Town. [Amended 1974, 1986, 1993, 1995]
- SECTION 4 When a Town Meeting is adjourned, excepting an adjournment from day to day, the Town Clerk shall cause notices of the time and place of holding such adjourned meeting to be duly posted in the public places referred to in Section 3 of this Article and published in a local newspaper if practicable. These notices shall also state briefly the business to come before such adjourned meeting.
- SECTION 5 One hundred (100) registered voters shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at any Town Meeting except such parts of meetings as are conducted under the provisions of Section 2 of this article; provided, however, that a less number may adjourn. [Amended 1974, 2004]

- SECTION 6 The Moderator may appoint tellers who shall permit only registered voters to enter upon the floor of the place where any town meeting is held. The Moderator may, at his discretion, permit persons other than qualified voters to attend said meetings.
- The articles of the warrant shall be acted upon in the order in which they appear SECTION 7 unless otherwise determined by vote of the meeting.
- SECTION 8 The Moderator may require any motion to be presented in writing.
- The Moderator may require that a motion, if susceptible of division, shall be divided SECTION 9 and the question put separately upon each part thereof.
- SECTION 10 When a question is under debate, until it is disposed of, no motion shall be received but to adjourn, for the previous question, to lay on the table, to commit, to recommit, to amend or substitute, to refer, or to postpone to a certain time, which several motions shall have precedence in the order in which they are herein arranged, and the first three such motions shall be decided without debate.
- SECTION 11 In taking a vote on proposed amendments involving sums of money, the larger amount shall be put to the question first, and an affirmative vote thereon shall be a negative vote on any smaller amount.
- SECTION 12 Any person who is employed as an attorney by another interested in any matter under discussion at a town meeting shall disclose the fact of his employment before speaking thereon.
- SECTION 13 A. Except as otherwise provided in this Section 13, a vote on any question shall in the first instance be taken in the manner which the Moderator directs. If a twothirds vote of a town meeting is required by statute, the count need not be taken, except as provided in the following sentence. If a vote declared by the Moderator but not counted electronically or by the tellers is immediately questioned by seven or more voters, the Moderator shall call for another vote counted electronically or by a show of hands or a standing vote, in either case counted by the tellers, or by ballot. [Added 1998, Revised 2006, 2019]
 - B. Whenever any twenty (20) voters so request, the vote on any question shall be taken electronically or by ballot, as the Moderator may direct.
 - C. The form of the ballot to be used for taking a ballot vote, unless the Moderator shall otherwise direct, shall bear the word "yes" printed on one half, and the word "no" printed on the other half. It shall be the responsibility of the Town Clerk to have available at every Town Meeting a supply of such ballots. The method of issuing and collecting ballots shall be as determined by the Moderator.

- D. The Moderator and Town Clerk shall ensure that any electronic voting system used pursuant to this By-law produces an anonymous log of all votes recorded, so that a voter may retain his or her handset identifier and determine, after the meeting dissolves, how his or her votes were recorded [Added 2019].
- SECTION 14 No vote of the meeting shall be reconsidered except by a two-thirds vote. A motion for reconsideration shall be in order only at the same session of a meeting as the action to be reconsidered. When a motion for reconsideration is decided, that question shall not be reconsidered, and no question shall be reconsidered more than once. [Amended 2017]
- SECTION 15 All committees shall be appointed by the Moderator unless otherwise directed by the meeting or otherwise provided by law or by these by-laws, and it shall be the immediate duty of the member first named to call the committee together for organization.
- SECTION 16 No motion to adjourn a town meeting sine die shall be in order; and no motion to dissolve a town meeting shall be in order until every article in the warrant therefore has been duly considered and acted upon.
- SECTION 17 Notwithstanding any other by-law, no appropriation exceeding \$1,000,000 to be raised by issuing bonds or other evidences of indebtedness maturing in more than a year, except appropriations for a revenue producing department, shall be valid unless the motion calling for the appropriation or action shall be adopted by a vote on a printed ballot, after full opportunity for debate. [Amended 1991, 2013]
- SECTION 18 Before any Annual Town Meeting, the Moderator may select from the Warrant those articles which in the Moderator's judgment are likely to be adopted without debate and cause such articles and the motions to be made under each one to be published in a Consent Calendar. At least seven (7) days before the Annual meeting, the Moderator shall cause an adequate supply of copies of the Consent Calendar to be made available at the Town Hall, Library, Police Station, Fire Station and the Memorial School, and cause a copy to be published in a newspaper having a circulation in the Town. At an appropriate time in the Annual Meeting, the Moderator may announce consideration of the Consent Calendar. Notwithstanding the provisions of Sections 7 and 10 of this Article, a motion will then be in order to adopt the motions in the Consent Calendar without debate. After the motion is seconded, the Moderator shall recognize any voter for the purpose of holding any article in the Consent Calendar, and shall cause any such article to be deleted from the motion to adopt. When all requests for holds have been received, the Moderator shall put the motion as modified to a vote, without further debate. Adoption of the motion by unanimous vote shall constitute adoption of all the motions contained therein. Thereafter, all articles held, or if the motion to adopt is not voted unanimously, all articles in the Consent Calendar, shall be acted upon in accordance with the other provisions of this Article. A vote to adopt the Consent Calendar shall

not be subject to reconsideration, but each motion contained in the Consent Calendar as adopted may be reconsidered individually in accordance with Section 15 of this Article. [Added 1998]

SECTION 19 Without otherwise limiting the discretion of the Moderator pursuant to provisions of Massachusetts General Laws and of these Bylaws, the Moderator shall follow the guidance of *Town Meeting Time* and not other procedural handbooks. In the event of a conflict between *Town Meeting Time* and these Bylaws, the provisions of the Bylaws shall prevail."

(Added 2012)

ARTICLE III DUTIES OF TOWN OFFICERS

SECTION 1 General Duties

No officer or employee of the Town, nor any agent of any such officer or employee, shall receive any compensation or commission for work done by him for the Town except the salary, wages or fees lawfully appropriated, without the permission of the Select Board Members expressed in a vote, taken prior to the performance of such work, which shall appear on their records with the reason therefor.

SECTION 2 Select Board

- A. The Select Board Members shall have the general direction and management of the property and affairs of the Town in all matters not otherwise provided for by law or by these by-laws.
- B. Except as otherwise provided by law, the Select Board Members shall have the custody of the bonds given by all town officers.
- C. The Select Board Members shall transmit to the Town Clerk a copy of each instrument of conveyance of land or interest therein executed on behalf of the Town.
- D. The Select Board Members may, from time to time, make, publish and enforce such rules and regulations as they shall deem advisable regarding the use of all town floats, docks, wharves, and similar installations belonging to the Town, and regarding the use of other public places belonging to the Town over which the Select Board Members exercise jurisdiction.
- E. Whenever an article is submitted for insertion in the warrant of any town meeting, which proposes any amendment or addition to or repeal of any of these bylaws, the Select Board Members shall refer such article to the Town Counsel, who shall advise the Select Board Members whether the proposal is legal and in proper form and whether any other by-laws are affected thereby.
- F. The Select Board Members shall appoint an inspector of wires, who shall perform the duties prescribed by law.
- G. The Select Board, with the approval of the Board of Health, shall provide and maintain some suitable place or method at which inhabitants of the Town shall have the right under suitable regulations made from time to time by the Select Board, with the approval of the Board of Health, to deposit such solid waste as may be permitted by such regulations. Such rules and regulations shall require the separation of designated recyclable material or materials from other refuse. [Amended 1991]

H. The Select Board Members shall have the general direction and management of and shall exercise jurisdiction over Town beaches and landings and the Singing Beach Bathhouse. [Added 1995]

SECTION 3 Town Clerk

- A. The Town Clerk shall immediately after every town meeting notify in writing all members of committees who may be elected or appointed at such meeting, stating the business upon which they are to act and the names of the persons composing the committees, and shall notify all officers, boards and committees of all votes passed at such meeting in any way affecting them.
- B. The Town Clerk shall keep in his or her office at least five (5) copies of these bylaws with all amendments thereto, which copies shall be open to inspection during reasonable hours.
- C. The Town Clerk shall properly record or cause to be recorded every instrument of conveyance to the Town of any interest in land and shall have custody of all such instruments, except as otherwise provided by law.
- D. The Town Clerk shall keep a book containing a true copy of all conveyances executed on behalf of the Town.
- E. The Town Clerk shall keep on file a copy of every standing vote of the Town made subsequent to the adoption of these by-laws and shall keep an index thereof including an index of all acts of the Legislature accepted by the Town subsequent to such adoption.
- F. All Town Boards, Committees and Commissions shall file all approved meeting minutes and adopted rules and regulations with the Town Clerk for filing and placement on the Town's website within 7 business days of approval and/or adoption [Added 2019].

SECTION 4 Collector of Taxes

- A. The Town Treasurer and Collector of Taxes shall have all the powers and duties prescribed by law, and, in addition, he shall, under the title of Town Collector, collect all overdue or delinquent accounts which may be submitted to him by any board, committee, or department.
- B. The Town Treasurer and Collector of Taxes shall report to the Select Board Members from time to time all uncollected accounts in his hands, and shall advise the Select Board Members as to those accounts which, in his opinion, require legal action. This sub-section shall not apply in any case where the duties and obligations of the Town Treasurer and Collector of Taxes are specified by law.

SECTION 5 Town Accountant

The Select Board Members shall appoint a Town Accountant, who shall perform the duties prescribed by law.

SECTION 6 <u>Inspector of Gas Piping and Gas Appliances</u>

The Select Board Members shall appoint the Chief of the Fire Department as Inspector of Gas Piping and Gas Appliances for a term of three years, who shall perform the duties prescribed by law.

SECTION 7 Harbormaster

The Town Administrator shall appoint, subject to confirmation by the Select Board, set the annual compensation for, and assign duties to a Harbormaster for a term to run as provided by law. The position of Harbormaster shall be a full-time position between April 1st and October 1st. The Select Board Members shall set the hours of employment for the remaining months. Between April 1st and October 1st, the Harbormaster shall not hold any other town appointment. In addition to other duties assigned by the Select Board Members, the Harbormaster shall post lists of all mooring permits including mooring number, sticker serial number, permit holder, and boat name, all waiting lists, and all mooring assignment transactions to a publicly accessible location in the Town Hall and to the Town's Web site. [Added 2011]

ARTICLE IV TOWN PROPERTY, FINANCES AND CONTRACTS

- SECTION 1 An audit of the accounts of the Town shall be made annually under the supervision of the State Division of Accounts, as provided by law.
- SECTION 2 Payments on all accounts due the Town shall be remitted to the Town Treasurer and Collector of Taxes.
- SECTION 3 No bill, charge or account against the Town shall be paid without the approval in writing first being obtained by the person, board or committee authorized to contract the same.
- SECTION 4 Any board or officer in charge of a department may, with the approval of the Select Board Members, sell any personal property not required by said department if the market value of such property as determined by the Select Board Members does not exceed the threshold as established by MGL Chapter 30B, § 15 as may be amended, and may sell any such personal property of greater value if the sale is made at public auction or by sealed bid with the joint authorization of the Select Board Members and Chairman of the Finance Committee. Sealed bids shall be invited by informing a sufficient number of interested parties to insure fair competition, and by public advertisement by at least one insertion in a newspaper having a circulation in Manchester. Such invitations shall state when and where the items for sale can be viewed, and the time and place at which bids will be opened and shall reserve to the Town the right to reject any and all bids. All bids shall be opened in public. If personal property of any value instead of being separately sold can be delivered to a vendor as part of the consideration for the duly authorized purchase by the town of other personal property, the Select Board Members alone may authorize such a transaction. Notwithstanding the provisions of this section, any specific sale of any personal property may be made on any terms if specifically authorized by a vote of the town. [Amended 1987, October 2017]

SECTION 5 Contracts

Except as otherwise provided by law, each elected board or committee is authorized to enter into contracts against appropriations under their control or the exercise of the Town's corporate powers, on such terms and conditions as are deemed appropriate. No contract, other than contracts for personal or professional services, involving an obligation of the Town in excess of \$5,000 shall be binding upon the Town unless it is in writing, is approved by Town Counsel as to form only, and is signed by at least a majority of the board or committee duly authorized or having control of the appropriation against which such obligation is incurred; and such board or committee shall make a record of every such contract. [Amended 1991]

SECTION 6 Bonds

Except for the collection of garbage and rubbish and except as otherwise provided by law, the performance of every contract, other than contracts for personal or professional services, or for the purchase of materials or equipment, which is estimated to cost \$10,000 or more, shall be secured by bond in a penal sum not less than the amount of the contract, and the garbage and rubbish collection contracts will require bonds in the penal sum of 33 1/3% of the amount of the contract. The contractor shall provide surety on said bond, either by a satisfactory indemnity or surety company, or by depositing with the Town Treasurer cash or United States government bonds in an amount equal to the penal sum of the bond. This section shall not apply in cases of emergency requiring immediate action for the preservation of life or for the protection of property. Evidence indicating that such an emergency exists shall be furnished to the Select Board Members in writing by the officer, board or committee making such contract and shall be kept on file with other records of such transactions. [Amended 1991]

SECTION 7 [Deleted 1990]

SECTION 8

No conveyance or acquisition of any interest in real property shall be made by the Town unless such conveyance or acquisition is authorized by vote of the Town, and no such conveyance or acquisition shall be authorized by the Town unless the matter has been referred to the Planning Board and the Planning Board has submitted its report to the Town. The Planning Board shall report to the Town at least seven (7) days before each Town Meeting, making a written recommendation with respect to any articles in the warrant relating to the Town's conveyance or acquisition of any interest in real property and also with respect to any other matter on which the Planning Board may be required or elects to make a recommendation. Unless the Town votes otherwise pursuant to recommendations by the Select Board, Planning Board and the Finance Committee, a conveyance of real property owned by the Town shall be by public auction, due notice of which shall be given at least seven (7) days prior to said auction. This section shall not apply to any conveyance of tax titles or any acquisition of land under tax title procedure.

Notwithstanding any other by-law, non-exclusive easements in the public way and non-exclusive easements less than 1,000 square feet on other Town property may be granted by the Select Board provided that any easement involving a water or sewer extension or other action affecting the public health shall require a public hearing and the advice of the Planning Board, Board of Health and Conservation Commission. [Amended 1991]

SECTION 9 [Deleted 1986]

SECTION 10 Term of Contract

The Town shall not award a contract for a term exceeding ten (10) years, including any renewal, extension, or option. The Town shall not enter into a

contract unless funds are available for the first fiscal year at the time of contracting. Payment and performance obligations for succeeding fiscal years shall depend on the availability and appropriation of funds. (Reference MGL Chapter 30B Section 12). [Added 2001]

SECTION 11: Revolving Funds

Program or Purpose	Representative of Board	Department Receipts	
	Authorized to Spend		
Costs Associated with	Recreation Director	Registration Fees or	
Town of Manchester		other funds intended to	
Recreation Programs		support the programs	
		offered by the	
		Recreation Department	
Costs Associated with the	Health Director/Agent	Insurance and other	
operation and supplies	and Public Health Nurse	reimbursements for	
necessary for the operation		vaccination clinics or	
of emergency dispensing		other emergency	
sites and clinics		dispensing sites	

Expenditures from each revolving fund set forth herein shall be subject to the limitation established annually by Town Meeting or any increase therein as may be authorized in accordance with G.L. c.44, §53E½. [Added 2017]

(Health Department Revolving Fund established April 3, 2023 through Article 10, approved by the Attorney General, June 15, 2023)

ARTICLE V LEGAL AFFAIRS

- SECTION 1 Except as otherwise provided by law, the Select Board Members shall have full authority as agents of the Town to appear and defend suits brought against the Town, to appear before any court, board or commission to protect the interests of the Town, and to institute and prosecute actions at law, proceedings in equity or any other legal proceeding. In all such cases they shall report their action to the Town at the next succeeding town meeting.
- SECTION 2 Except as otherwise provided by law, the Select Board Members shall consider all claims, suits or proceedings made by or brought against the Town and may, in their discretion, settle the same.
- SECTION 3 The Select Board Members shall include in their annual report a report on all claims and suits pending or disposed of during the year.
- SECTION 4 The Select Board Members shall annually on or before the first day of June appoint a member of the bar in good standing to serve as Town Counsel for the term of one year or until his successor is appointed and enters upon the performance of his duties. They shall likewise fill any vacancy in said office for the unexpired term and may employ special counsel to assist the said Town Counsel whenever, in their judgment, necessity therefor arises. The Select Board Members shall make suitable arrangements with the Town Counsel for the employment of special counsel whenever, by reasons of adverse interest, the Town Counsel is unable to represent the Town and may reduce the amount to be paid Town Counsel as the circumstances require. [Amended 1974]

ARTICLE VI FINANCE COMMITTEE

- SECTION 1 There shall be a Finance Committee consisting of seven legal voters of the Town who shall serve without pay and no member shall be an employee or paid officer of the Town. Each member of the Finance Committee shall serve for a term of three (3) years, and each term shall begin the 1st day of July. Two members of the Finance Committee shall be appointed for each of two years and three members shall be appointed on the third year of an ongoing three year cycle. One member shall be appointed by the moderator each year. One member shall be appointed by the Select Board Members for each of two years and two members shall be appointed in the third year of the ongoing three year cycle of appointments. [Amended 1987, 2018]
- SECTION 2 The original appointing authority shall promptly fill for the unexpired term any vacancies which may occur in the membership of the Committee. An attested copy of such appointment shall be sent by the Secretary to the Town Clerk.
- SECTION 3 After drawing the warrant for any town meeting, the Select Board Members shall immediately transmit a copy thereof to the Finance Committee.
- SECTION 4 In addition to the duties and power prescribed by law, the Finance Committee shall have the following duties and powers:
 - A. The Committee shall consider all articles of a financial nature in the warrant for any town meeting and shall hold at least one public meeting for discussion of such article if so requested by three (3) voters of the Town.
 - B. The Committee shall furnish the town meeting with such written recommendations as it deems for the best interests of the Town on all articles contained in the warrant involving or affecting expenditures, appropriations, debt, budgets, estimates, purchases or sales of property, or any other transactions of a financial nature in which the Town is interested.
 - C. The Committee shall, whenever possible, recommend the amounts of money which in its opinion should be expended, appropriated, borrowed or received by the Town
 - D. The Committee shall have free access to all records, accounts, bills and vouchers having to do with the financial affairs of the Town, and may request any officer, board, committee, or department of the Town to furnish it with information pertaining to the financial affairs of such board, committee or department.
 - E. The Committee may request any officer, board, committee or department to submit to it estimates of needs for maintenance, capital improvements or new equipment for any given period of time.
 - F. The Committee shall make an annual report of all its doings with such recommendations as it deems suitable relative to any financial matters.

ARTICLE VII PLANNING BOARD

SECTION 1

SECTION 2 The Board of Appeals established under Section VIII of the Zoning By-laws of the Town shall act as a Board of Appeals under Section 81Z, Chapter 41, of the General Laws.

[Amended in 1983 to reduce the term of the members of the Planning Board to three years, commencing in 1984.]

ARTICLE VIII WATER AND SEWER COMMISSIONERS

- SECTION 1 The Board of Water and Sewer Commissioners, as established under Chapter 165 of the Special Acts of 1918 and other acts relating thereto, shall adopt such regulations as they deem necessary or proper for the carrying on of the business of the Board and for regulating the use of the town water and sewer systems.
- SECTION 2 The Commissioners shall keep all necessary and proper records pertaining to the business of the Board which shall be made available for public inspection in accordance with General Laws Chapter 39.

SECTION 3 Water Bans and Restrictions

Any ban or restriction within the Town duly promulgated by the Board of Water & Sewer Commissioners shall have the full force and effect of a by-law and will be enforced in a like manner. Any violation of such ban or restriction shall be punishable by a fine of not less than one hundred dollars (\$100.00) nor more than two hundred dollars (\$200.00). In the case of a continuing violation, each day of violation shall constitute a separate offense. Any such ban or restriction shall be posted as an advertisement for two issues of a newspaper having a general circulation in the Town, when the ban goes into effect and when the ban is lifted. [amended 1981]

SECTION 4 <u>Water Use Restrictions</u>

A. Authority

This By-law is adopted by the Town of Manchester-by-the-Sea under its police powers to protect public health and welfare and its powers under M.G.L. c.40, §21 et seq. and implements the Town's authority to regulate water use pursuant to M.G.L. c. 41, §69B. This by-law also implements the Town's authority under M.G.L. c.40, §41A, conditioned upon a declaration of water supply emergency issued by the Massachusetts Department of Environmental Protection (DEP).

B. Purpose

The purpose of this by-law is to protect, preserve and maintain the public health, safety and welfare whenever there is in force a State of Water Supply Conservation or State of Water Supply Emergency by providing for enforcement of any duly imposed restrictions, requirements, provisions or conditions imposed by the Town or by the Massachusetts Department of Environmental Protection.

C. Definitions

"Person" shall mean any individual, corporation, trust, partnership or association, or other entity.

"State of Water Conservation" shall mean a State of Water Supply Conservation declared by the Town pursuant to Section (d) of this By-law.

"Water Users" or "Water Consumers" shall mean all public and private users of the Town's water system, irrespective of any person's responsibility for billing purposes for water used at any particular facility.

D. Declaration of a State of Water Supply Conservation

The Town, through its Select Board, may declare a State of Water Supply Conservation upon a determination by a majority vote of the Board that a shortage of water exists and conservation measures are appropriate to ensure an adequate supply of water to all water consumers. Public notice of a State of Water Conservation shall be given under Section (f) of this by-law before it may be enforced.

E. Restricted Water Uses

A declaration of a State of Water Supply Conservation shall include one or more of the following restrictions, conditions, or requirements limiting the use of water as necessary to protect the water supply. The applicable restriction, conditions or requirements shall be included in the public notice required under Section (f).

- (i) Odd/Even Day Outdoor Watering. Outdoor watering by water users with odd numbered addresses is restricted to odd numbered days. Outdoor watering by water users with even numbered addresses is restricted to even numbered days.
- (ii) Outdoor Watering Ban. Outdoor watering is prohibited.
- (iii) Outdoor Watering Hours. Outdoor watering permitted only during daily periods of low demand, to be specified in the declaration of a State of Water Supply Conservation and public notice thereof.
- (iv) Filling Swimming Pools. Filling of swimming pools is prohibited.
- (v) Automatic Sprinkler Use. The use of automatic sprinkler systems is prohibited.
- F. Public Notification of a State of Water Supply Conservation; Notification of DEP Notification of any provision, restriction, requirement or condition imposed by the Town as part of a State of Water Supply Conservation shall be published in a newspaper of general circulation within the Town, or by such other means reasonably calculated to reach and inform all users of water of the State of Water Supply Conservation. Any restriction imposed under Section (e) shall not be effective until such notification is provided. Notification of the State of Water Supply Conservation shall also be simultaneously provided to the Massachusetts Department of Environmental Protection.
- G. Termination of a State of Water Supply Conservation; Notice

A State of Water Supply Conservation may be terminated by a majority vote of the Select Board upon a determination that the water supply shortage no longer exists. Public notification of the termination of a State of Water Supply Conservation shall be given in the same manner required by Section (f).

H. State of Water Supply Emergency; Compliance with DEP Orders Upon notification to the public that a declaration of a State of Water Supply Emergency has been issued by the Massachusetts Department of Environmental Protection, no person shall violate any provision, restriction, requirement, condition of any order approved or issued by DEP intended to bring about an end to the State of Emergency.

I. Penalties

Any person violating this bylaw shall be liable to the Town in the amount of \$100.00 for the first violation and \$300.00 for each subsequent violation which shall inure to the Town for such uses as the Select Board may direct. Fines shall be recovered by indictment, or on complaint before the District Court, or by non-criminal disposition in accordance with Section 21D of Chapter 40 of the general laws. Each day of the violation shall constitute a separate offense. Enforcing agents for issuing violation notices shall be police officers or water division employees designated by the Select Board.

J. Severability

The invalidity of any portion or provision of this by-law shall not invalidate any other portion or provision thereof.
[Added 1995]

SECTION 5: Sewer Betterment Assessments

A. The Select Board, acting as sewer commissioners in accordance with G.L. c.83, §§14, 15, and 23, and under the authority conferred by virtue of Chapter 373 of the Acts of 1912, as amended by Chapter 161 of the Acts of 1954, may assess betterments upon benefitted properties for all, or such lesser portion as the Board shall determine, of the cost of constructing municipal sewer system facilities;

B. In fixing the amount of such betterments, the Select Board may, at their discretion, utilize the fixed uniform rate or the uniform unit rate method as set forth in G.L. c.83, §15.

C. Further in accordance with G.L. c.83, §15, the Select Board Members may, in assessing such betterments, separate the costs of general benefit facilities, including but not limited to pumping stations, trunk and force mains, from that of special benefit facilities, including but not limited to sewer mains, serving adjacent properties, and may apportion an equitable portion of the costs of the general benefit facilities by the uniform unit method on all properties benefitted

by such facilities; D. The Select Board Members may assess and collect estimated betterment assessments for the construction of sewer facilities in accordance with G.L. c.83, §15B. [Added 2017]

ARTICLE IX RECORDS AND REPORTS

- SECTION 1 All officers, boards, committees and departments of the Town shall cause records of their doings and accounts to be kept in suitable books, and shall also keep current inventories of all personal property under their control and current records of all personnel employed by them.
- SECTION 2 Except as otherwise provided by law, all officers, boards, committees and departments of the Town shall annually report in writing to the Town in such a manner as to give the citizens a fair and full understanding of their doings and of such expenditures as they may have made and may refer to the report of the Town Accountant or Town Treasurer and Collector of Taxes for statements in detail of any receipts and payments and may make such recommendations as they deem proper. Such reports shall be submitted to the Select Board Members for inclusion in the annual Town report on or before the first (1st) day of March of each year. If no report is made by a committee at the first annual town meeting following its appointment, such committee shall be deemed discharged unless the Town shall have granted an extension of time. [amended 1974]
- SECTION 3 The annual Town Report shall contain, in addition to the reports of officers, boards, committees and departments as hereinbefore provided, a report showing what payments were made as capital outlays for permanent improvements during the prior year; a report of tax abatements made during the prior year; statements of all funds belonging to the Town or held for the benefit of its inhabitants; a statement of the liabilities of the Town on bonds, notes, certificates of indebtedness or otherwise, and of indebtedness authorized but not incurred, and the purposes thereof; a summary of Assets and Liabilities with respect to the Town's future obligations regarding retirement and health care benefits of Town employees, which include the assumptions involved in the calculation of these matters, and a description of the plan to deal with any surplus or shortfall of assets relative to liabilities based on data of a timely nature; a statement of transfers made to or from any appropriation; abstracts of the records of the meetings of the Town held since publication of the last annual report; and such other matters as the said report is required by law to contain, or as may be inserted by the Select Board Members under the discretion granted them by law. [Amended 2011, 2013]
- SECTION 4 The Select Board Members of the Town may cause the by-laws and standing votes of the Town and the rules or regulations adopted by any officer, board, committee or department to be printed either separately or as part of the annual report.

ARTICLE X POLICE AND OTHER REGULATIONS

Streets and Sidewalks

SECTION 1 No person shall place or maintain a sign, advertising device, clock, marquee, permanent awning or other like structure projecting into or placed on or over a public way in the Town which projects into or over the way a distance of more than six (6) inches. This by-law shall not apply to the maintenance of existing signs or other structures, nor to poles, wires, conduits, and appurtenances of railroad, railway, telegraph and telephone, water, gas, electric light, heat and power companies.

Printed Matter Vending Machines

- A. <u>Definition</u>. Printed matter vending machine (referred to herein as "machine") Any box, container, stand, rack, storage unit or other dispenser or device installed, placed, used, operated or maintained for the display, sale, or distribution of newspapers, periodicals, or other printed matter for public use.
- B. <u>Permit Required</u>. No person, firm, corporation, association, partnership, trust or other type of entity shall place, install, use or maintain any printed matter vending machine on any public way, sidewalk, or other property owned or controlled by the Town without obtaining a written permit therefore from the Select Board.
- C. Application; fee. The application for the permit shall fully and specifically describe the printed matter vending machine by setting forth its size by height, depth and width or any other relevant dimensions if varying in height, depth and width, the name and address of the applicant, the exact date or dates said machine will be in place or in operation, the exact place where the machine will be located, the manner in which said machine shall be affixed. Further reasonable information which may affect the public safety, health or order in the community may be requested from the applicant. An annual application fee, the amount of which will be determined upon passage of this amendment to the by-law and annually thereafter by the Select Board which fee will be reasonably related to the costs of processing said application, shall be paid for each machine licensed. The form of application shall be approved by town counsel.
- D. <u>Insurance and Indemnification</u>. The applicant shall agree to indemnify and save harmless the Town of Manchester-by-the-Sea, its officials, agents, employees, boards, commissions, and committees, from any loss or damage and from all suits, actions and claims of any and every nature for or on account of any injuries or damage received or sustained by any person or company or other entity arising from the installation, use or maintenance of such machines. Prior to the issuance of any permit hereunder, a certificate of insurance for the purpose of providing such indemnification shall be filed with the Select Board in a form and amount approved by the Select Board.

E. <u>Grant or denial; hearing</u>. Within twenty days of receipt of a completed application, including application fee, the Select Board shall grant a permit or shall order that a hearing be held within an additional ten days, giving at least five days written notice to the applicant.

Within ten days next following the close of the hearing, the Select Board shall grant such permit or shall deny such application if it does not comply with the provisions of this by-law, or upon a finding that issuance of the permit would create a nuisance or would endanger the public health, safety, or order by:

- (1) Unreasonably increasing pedestrian traffic in the areas which the machine is to be located; or
- (2) Endangering the public safety by reason of the machine's projection onto, into, or over any part of the roadway of any public street; by reason of its being affixed to a site or location used for public utility purposes, public transportation purposes or governmental use; by reason of its being located in such manner as to interfere unreasonably with or impede the flow of pedestrian or vehicular traffic, sidewalk or street cleaning and/or snow removal, or the ingress or egress from any residence, place of business or any legally parked or stopped vehicle; or by reason of harm and defacement caused by its being affixed to poles, posts, traffic signs or signals, hydrants, mailboxes or other objects at or near such location.

Notice of the denial of an application for a permit shall be in writing and accompanied by a statement of the reasons therefore. The Select Board may impose conditions upon the permit which relate to compliance with the permit, applicable laws or by-laws, or to public safety, health or order, or to guard against the creation of a nuisance, or to ensure adequate safety and security for the public. No applicant having been denied a permit shall submit the same or similar application within one year of the denial without including in the new application facts showing that the circumstances upon which the original denial was based have substantially changed.

F. Location. No machine shall be chained, bolted or otherwise attached to property owned or maintained by the Town of Manchester-by-the-Sea, and no machine shall be placed, installed, used or maintained on Town property, without the permission of the Select Board. No machine shall be located within three feet of any crosswalk; within fifteen feet of any fire hydrant; within five feet of any fire or police call box or other emergency facility; within five feet of any driveway, public or private; within three feet ahead or fifteen feet to the rear of any designated bus stop, taxi stand or place whereby the clear space for the passage of pedestrians is reduced to less than four feet; or within three feet of any display window of any building abutting the sidewalk or other public place in such a

- manner as to impede or interfere with the reasonable use of such window for display purposes.
- G. <u>Use for Advertising Prohibited</u>. No machine shall be used for advertising signs or publicity purposes, other than that which identifies the printed matter offered therein.
- H. <u>Maintenance</u>. Each machine shall be maintained in a clean and neat condition and in good repair at all times. No reflecting paint, fluorescent or reflective materials may be used on any machine. Any litter created by the contents of the machine shall be disposed of within forty-eight hours.
- I. <u>Identification</u>. The person who places or maintains such machine shall have his/her name or his/her Massachusetts agent's name, address and telephone number affixed thereto in a place where such information may be easily seen.
- J. <u>Time limit for compliance</u>. All persons who have placed or intend to place machines in the Town of Manchester-by-the-Sea shall have thirty days from the effective date of this by-law to comply with its provisions. The Select Board may grant an extension of this time limit in its discretion for good cause.
- K. <u>Violation</u>. Violation of the terms and conditions of this by-law or of any permit granted hereunder shall be punishable by a fine of one hundred dollars (\$100) for the first violation, two hundred dollars (\$200) for the second violation, and three hundred dollars (\$300) for the third and subsequent violations, and said violation(s) shall be cause for cancellation, suspension, revocation, modification, or non-renewal of the permit, after hearing, upon five days written notice sent by registered or certified mail to the name and address set forth in the annual application.
- L. <u>Abandonment</u>. Any machine that is not used for the distribution of printed material for a period of sixty calendar days or more shall be deemed abandoned, and the applicant shall remove it within forty-eight hours of being notified in writing by the Select Board to do so.
- M. <u>Severability</u>. If any section, clause, or provision of this by-law shall be found by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, the remainder of this by-law shall continue in full force and effect. [Amended 2005]
- SECTION 2 No person without permission of the Superintendent of Streets or the Chief of Police shall in any manner obstruct traffic or endanger travel in or over any sidewalk, street or way open to public use nor shall any person without such permission place or throw on any such sidewalk, street or way any substance which will obstruct traffic or endanger travel.

Manchester-by-the-Sea General By-Law - Page 26 - Updated March 2025

- SECTION 3 No person shall place or leave in or upon any sidewalk, street or way open to public use any garbage, rubbish or any substance or material which is or may become offensive or cause a nuisance.
- SECTION 3A No person shall throw, deposit, discharge, place or cause to be thrown, deposited, discharged, or placed, any trash, refuse, rubbish, garbage or debris on any way, street, beach, park, sidewalk, recreation area or place to which the public has a right of access, or in or upon coastal or inland waters, within twenty (20) yards of any of the foregoing, or on property of another without permission of the owner thereof. No person shall deposit or cause to be deposited refuse or garbage from his household or place of business into any trash barrel placed for the convenience of the public on any way, street, beach, park sidewalk, recreation area, or place to which the public has a right of access within the Town. Any person who violates the provisions of this Section shall be punished by a fine of not less than \$50.00 nor more than \$200.00 for each offense. [Amended 1980]
- SECTION 4 There shall be no dumping in the Town except in areas designated by the Board of Public Works, with the approval of the Board of Health. [Amended 1981]
- SECTION 5 No person shall suffer any horse or grazing beasts or swine to run at large in the Town or feed within the limits of any sidewalk, street or way open to public use either with or without a keeper.
- SECTION 6 No person shall throw stones, snowballs, sticks or other missiles or kick footballs or play at any game in which a ball is used, or fly kites or balloons, or shoot with or use an air gun, bow and arrow, slingshot or other similar devices in or across any sidewalk, street or way open to public use or in any public place or common except as permitted by the Select Board Members or by vote of the Town.
- SECTION 7 A. No person shall stand in a roadway for the purpose of soliciting a ride, employment or business from the operator or occupant of any vehicle without the written permission from the Board or Officer having control of such roadway or highway. [Amended 1973]
 - B. No person shall leave any vehicle unattended within the limits or private ways so as to prevent access of fire apparatus, ambulances or other emergency vehicles. [Amended 1973]
- SECTION 8 A. No resident of the Town shall operate a bicycle within the limits of the Town, no renting agency shall rent bicycles and no person shall conduct a business of buying or selling new or second hand bicycles without first complying with Chapter 85, Section 11A, as most recently amended of the Massachusetts General Laws Annotated, which requires the registration of bicycles and reports of sales of same. [Amended 1973]

- B. Operators of bicycles shall conform to the traffic rules and regulations set out in Chapter 85, Section 11B of the Massachusetts General Laws Annotated, as most recently amended. [Amended 1973]
- SECTION 9 No person shall coast upon or across any sidewalk, street or way open to public use except at such times and in such places as may from time to time be designated by the Select Board Members.
- SECTION 10 No person shall knowingly suffer or permit any water or other liquid substance to run or be discharged from any building owned by him or under his control onto or across any sidewalk, street or way open to public use except that any person may wash windows or other parts of a building, provided the public safety is not endangered.
- SECTION 11 No person shall fire or discharge any gun, pistol or other firearm in or across any sidewalk, street or way open to public use or public place in the Town, but this section shall not prevent the use of such weapons in the lawful defense of one's person, family or property nor in the performance of any duty required or authorized by law.
- SECTION 12 No person shall suffer a platform, grate or opening in any sidewalk, street or way open to public use to rise above the surface of the same, and every such opening shall be at all times covered by a suitable grate or covering.
- SECTION 13 No owner or person having the care of any building abutting upon any sidewalk, the roof of which building slants towards the sidewalk, shall permit the building to be without a barrier, snow guard or other device to prevent the falling of snow or ice from such roof to the sidewalk.
- SECTION 14 No person shall ride, drive or cause to be driven any horse or vehicle over that part of any street or way open to public use which is being mended, repaired or paved if a sign is posted prohibiting the same.
- SECTION 15 No person, except one authorized by law, shall break or dig up any part of any sidewalk, street or way open to public use, remove any gravel or similar substance therefrom for any purpose whatever, except by permission of the Select Board Members under such conditions and restrictions as they may deem proper, and after posting a surety bond on terms satisfactory to the Select Board Members.

[Section 15A as amended in 1987 was deleted in 2000]

SECTION 16 Whoever shall, by virtue of such permission, break or dig up any part of a sidewalk, street or way open to public use shall cause the same to be repaired and made safe to the satisfaction of the Select Board Members. In case of neglect to repair and make

safe as aforesaid, the Superintendent of Streets shall cause the same to be repaired and made safe at the expense of the person to whom permission was so granted.

- SECTION 17 Whenever construction is to be performed on any street or way open to public use, the Select Board Members shall give notice to all town departments and public utility companies concerned in order that necessary replacements may be made by such departments or utility companies during such construction.
- SECTION 18 No vehicle shall be driven or moved nor shall any owner of any vehicle knowingly permit such vehicle to be driven or moved on any street or way open to public use unless such vehicle is so constructed or so loaded as to prevent its contents from escaping therefrom.
- SECTION 19 The Superintendent of Streets or other officer having charge of ways for the purpose of removing or plowing snow, or removing ice, from any way, may remove or cause to be removed to some convenient place, including in such term a public garage, any vehicle interfering with such work; and the owner of such vehicle shall be liable for the reasonable cost of such removal and storage charges.

Licenses

SECTION 20A In order to preserve public safety, any person, as provided for in Section 20(b), who engages in soliciting funds or who attempts to sell or solicit the sale of goods, wares, or merchandise for present or future delivery from door-to-door must register his or her true name and the name of the business or other organization for which the solicitation is authorized and the intended location of activity and times of activity with the Chief of Police. Such registration shall be effective for fourteen (14) days, unless sooner revoked, and may be initially refused or subsequently revoked upon the failure of the applicant to supply reasonable proof of his or her identity and that of the organization, if any, which he or she represents or upon the discovery of any attempt by the applicant to falsify or obscure either such identity. Upon such registration a certificate in such form as may be approved by the Select Board and Chief of Police shall be issued to the registrant. In all cases, the Chief of Police shall act on a request for registration within two (2) working days. [amended 1987]

SECTION 20B. Transient Vendor; Hawker/Peddler

All transient vendors, as defined by MGL Ch. 101, §1 shall obtain a license from the Select Board or its designee and all hawkers and peddlers as defined by MGL Ch. 101, §13 shall register with the Select Board or its designee before conducting business in the Town. The Select Board shall establish such rules and regulations in order to secure the safety, comfort and convenience of the public.

The applicant shall provide such information as the Board determines to be necessary including, but not limited to, a copy of the applicant's state license.

A fixed fee for this license shall be set by the Select Board. Any person failing to obtain such a license shall be subject to the fines provided for in this by-law. [Added 1997]

SECTION 20C: Short Term Paying Guest in Homes

Purpose: The rental of residential premises to short term paying guests, not otherwise expressly licensed for such purpose by the Town of Manchester by the Sea or other proper authority, shall be allowed only in properties whose owners have obtained an annual license in accordance with the requirements of this bylaw from the Select Board. The licensing process is designed to protect the health and welfare of the short term paying guests, to ensure an orderly and transparent process for operating small-scale rental services, and to protect the tranquility of residential neighborhoods.

Applicability: The rental of residential premises to short term paying guests is allowed in owner-occupied residential premises pursuant to being licensed in accordance with this by-law and consistent with the Town's Zoning By-law. Short term paying guests are those who are staying in a dwelling unit for less than 6 consecutive nights. The Board may allow short term paying guests provided suitable accommodations exist as determined by the Board in accordance with this by-law.

Process: Every owner of residential premises who offers rentals to short term paying guests must first obtain a license to do so from the Select Board. Licenses are valid for a calendar year and must be renewed annually. Application for a license can be made at any time but the license shall expire December 31 of the subject year. A completed application will be reviewed and a decision rendered at a public meeting of the Select Board.

Applications: Application shall be made on a form approved by the Select Board and shall contain sufficient information to determine the scope of the proposed short term rental operation, including location, number of rooms to be rented and whether meals prepared at the house will be served. Completed applications will be reviewed and acted upon within 3 weeks of submittal.

By completing the application form, applicants shall be confirming the following:

- 1. The property complies with applicable Board of Health regulations and Fire Department safety measures (fire/smoke alarms and CO monitors)
- 2. Name of a local authorized agent who can act on behalf of the owner in the absence of the owner in the case of any problems, violations or emergencies should they arise while the owner is not present.

3. Agreement to maintain a guest registry showing the name of each guest and the night(s) of their stay. The registry shall be made available for review at any time at the request of the Enforcement Agent and/or Select Board.

Application Fee: The Select Board annually shall set a fee for applying for a Short Term Guest Rental Home License. Said fee initially shall be set at \$100.

The Select Board shall grant licenses to those persons submitting applications in compliance with the requirements of this by-law. A license issued under this by-law shall not be deemed to supersede the application of any other lawful requirements applicable to the use authorized therein, including the necessity of obtaining other licenses or permits.

Owners are encouraged to adhere to guidelines for the short term rental of rooms that the Select Board Members shall promulgate from time to time.

Complaints and Enforcement:

- 1. The Select Board may designate such Town officials as they deem appropriate to carry out the enforcement duties under this by-law. The Town Administrator shall supervise enforcement actions.
- 2. If the Enforcement Agent, as designated by the Select Board, concludes that there has been a violation of this by-law or of the conditions of any license issued hereunder, the agent shall send notice ordering cessation of the improper activities to the license holder, by registered mail to the address stated on the initial Application, .
- 3. If a license holder persists in such violation, the Enforcement Agent may seek enforcement of this bylaw through the mechanisms set forth in Article I, Section 4 of the General By-laws, and the penalty for violations of this by-law shall be a fine of \$300 for each day an offense occurs.
- 4. In the event that a license holder persists in such violations, the Board may notify the license holder by mail, as above, of a hearing to be held not less than four (4) days thereafter to show cause why said license should not be revoked, and following said hearing, may in its discretion, modify, revoke or amend the license.
- 5. Upon petition of the property owner and/or license holder, abutters, or upon its own initiative, the Select Board may hold a hearing to determine whether or not the terms of this by-law, any other applicable state, federal or local law, or the license itself are being complied with, and/or whether or not activities conducted pursuant to a license issued under this bylaw constitute a nuisance or adversely impact the public health, safety or welfare.
- 6. The Select Board may, after hearing, mandate licensure, or modify, revoke or suspend a license issued hereunder. In addition, should the Select Board, after conducting a hearing, determine that a violation has occurred; it may direct the Enforcement Agent to seek enforcement of this by-law as set forth in paragraph 3, above.

Validity: The invalidity of any section or provision of this bylaw shall not invalidate any other section or provision thereof. This bylaw shall go into effect January 1, 2017. [Added 2016]

SECTION 21 Rules and orders for the regulation of carriages and vehicles in accordance with applicable provisions of law and of these by-laws shall be made by the Select Board Members, and the Select Board Members may issue licenses for the operation of hackneys and other vehicles for the conveyance of persons for hire, and such licenses may be revoked at the pleasure of the Select Board Members.

Hydrants and Pipes

SECTION 22 No person shall open a hydrant or lift or remove the cover thereof or make any opening or connection with any pipe or reservoir or turn on or turn off the water from any pipe, fountain, reservoir or hydrant under the control of the Board of Water and Sewer Commissioners except by authority of said Commissioners or their agents.

Prohibition of Billboards

SECTION 23 No person shall erect or maintain a non-accessory sign within the Town of Manchester, except as may be permitted by Section 32 of Chapter 93 of the General Laws or the Zoning By-laws of the Town. A non-accessory sign shall mean any sign other than a sign that advertises, or indicates the person occupying the premises on which the sign is erected or maintained, or the business transacted thereon, or advertises the property itself or any part thereof as for sale or rent, and which contains no other matter. The provisions of this section shall not apply to non-accessory signs located on Town-owned property, subject to the approval by the Select Board, nor to non-accessory signs on Town-owned property used for educational purposes, subject to approval by the Manchester Essex Regional School Committee.

Invasion of Privacy

SECTION 24 No person shall for commercial use play or use any portable recording device, amplifier, speaker or other instrument for the channeling of music, language or sound to, or on a public street or private way or place of outside assembly without a permit therefor issued by the Select Board Members.

No person shall behave in a rude, indecent or disorderly manner, or use profane, indecent or insulting language, or shout, scream and/or utter loud outcries without reasonable cause, in any public place or near any dwelling house in the Town to the annoyance or disturbance of any person there being or passing, or loiter on any sidewalk or street or about doorways or places of business to the annoyance of any person.

No person shall willfully or negligently obstruct the free passage of any travelers in any accepted street or public way in this town. The unnecessary sounding of car horns on public or private ways creating a loud noise or disturbance is prohibited.

- SECTION 25 No person shall camp at or on, or utilize for sleeping purposes any property owned, controlled and/or maintained by the Town unless first obtaining permission from the Select Board. [Amended 1974]
- SECTION 26 No person shall saunter or loiter in a street, public place or upon any sidewalk to the inconvenience of foot travelers, nor shall three or more persons obstruct or unreasonably persist in remaining upon any sidewalk or in a street or public place after having been requested by a police officer to move on. No person shall remain upon any sidewalk, or public walk, fence, steps or porch to the annoyance of other people. [Amended 1968]

The tenant or occupant, and in case there shall be no tenant or occupant, the owner, or any person having the care of any building or lot of land bordering on any street, lane, court, square or public place, within the Town, where there is a sidewalk, shall cause all garbage, rubbish or any substance or material which is or may become offensive or cause a nuisance to be removed therefrom within six (6) hours after the object is placed thereon and if he neglects to do so, he shall be liable to a penalty not less than two dollars nor more than ten dollars for each offense.

Any person violating the provisions of any section of these by-laws where no specific penalty is stated shall, upon conviction, be fined not less than one nor more that twenty dollars for each offense.

SECTION 27 Unless granted a special permit by the Select Board, no person shall, in or on any public way, public alley, public parking area, public landing, park or playground or any way to which the public has a right of access, or any way or property to which members of the public have access as licensees or invitees, whether in or upon a vehicle, drink any alcoholic beverages, as defined in Massachusetts General Laws, Annotated, Chapter 138, Section 1. The penalty for violating this by-law shall be a fine of up to \$50.00. [Amended 1979]

SECTION 28 Animal Control

SECTION 28Animal Control

A. Purpose and Authority

The purpose of this by-law is to set forth guidelines for the control of animals to prevent injury to the health, welfare and property of the residents of the Town and to prevent inhumane treatment of animals. This by-law is adopted pursuant to G.L. c.140, §173 and is intended to be administered in conjunction with and consistently with G.L. c.140, §136A to 173E inclusive while providing additional and supplemental practices, procedures and standards for animal control and welfare in the Town.

B. Administration

- Animal Control Board. The Select Board shall appoint annually an Animal Control Board made up of five residents of the Town. The Animal Control Board, in consultation with the Animal Control Officer, shall evaluate animal control and welfare issues within the Town and shall recommend solutions or actions necessary to resolve such issues. The Animal Control Board may also recommend to the Select Board appropriate rules, regulations or by-law amendments for the care and control of animals.
- 2. Animal Control Officer. The Animal Control Officer is a person or persons appointed by the Town Administrator, with recommendations from the Animal Control Board and the Chief of Police, to carry out the provisions of the Town by-laws and regulations concerning animals. The Animal Control Officer shall be duly qualified and trained in accordance with state law.

C. Control of Domesticated Animals

- 1. No owner or keeper of a domesticated animal shall permit such animal to become a public nuisance or danger. For purpose of this by-law, the term "domesticated animal" shall be as defined by G.L. c.140, §136A.
- 2. No owner or keeper may maintain more than a total of four (4) domesticated animals of the same species over the age of three (3) months without a permit from the Board of Health. Any owner or keeper with more than four (4) dogs over three (3) months of age requires an appropriate kennel license, available at the Town Clerk's office.
- 3. Female Domesticated Animals in Heat. If the Animal Control Officer determines that a female domesticated animal in heat, even when confined, is attracting other animals thus causing a disturbance or damage to neighboring property or public area, he or she may require the owner or keeper to keep said domesticated animal, while in heat, in a kennel, or to remove it from the immediate area so that the nuisance is abated.
- 4. The following conduct is prohibited:
 - (a) No owner or keeper of a dog shall permit such dog to trespass on Town playgrounds and parks, Town cemeteries, or Town Hall, Public School or Public Library property or grounds in the Town.
 - (b) No owner or keeper of a dog shall permit such dog to trespass on any Town beaches from April 15 through October 14. [Amended 2011, 2013]
 - (c) No owner or keeper of a dog shall permit such dog to run at large in the Town of Manchester-by-the-Sea. A dog shall be deemed running at large when it is both off the premises of the owner or such person in custody or control of, and is not on a leash or under direct voice command of a person able to control the dog.
 - (d) The owner or keeper of a dog shall remove and dispose of any feces left by such dog on any beach, sidewalk or street, in any park or other public place, or on any private property neither owned, leased nor otherwise permissibly occupied by said person. Disposal shall be accomplished by transporting feces to the property owned, leased or otherwise permissibly occupied by the owner or keeper of the dog, or to an appropriate waste receptacle. Disposal in Town storm drains, or any water body or wetland, is prohibited.

Service animals, as defined by the Americans with Disabilities Act or other applicable provisions of state or federal law, may be exempt, in appropriate circumstances, to the extent that the service animal is acting in service to a person with a disability.

D. Licensing Procedures and Identification Tags

- 1. Dogs, cats and ferrets six (6) months of age or older are required to be vaccinated for rabies, unless otherwise exempted by state statute. Individuals licensing dogs must present to the Town Clerk, at the time of such licensing, a current certificate or certificates signed and dated by a licensed veterinarian describing the animal and stating that it has been vaccinated against rabies, or is otherwise exempt from vaccination, under the requirements of G.L. c.140, §145B.
- 2. A dog required to be licensed must wear the tag issued by the Town Clerk and the tag issued by a veterinarian at all times when the animal is off the premises of the owner as required by state law.
- 3. Fees are as follows: \$25 for male or female dogs or \$20 for spayed or neutered dogs. Dog licenses expire on March 31 of each calendar year. No fee shall be charged for a license for a service animal as defined by the Americans with Disabilities Act or the regulations promulgated thereunder.
- 4. Should any owner or keeper of a dog or kennel fail to license such before March 31 (or the first business day after March 31), that owner or keeper shall pay a graduated late fee of \$10.00 per month for each month the dog or kennel is not registered up to a total late fee of \$30.00, excepting a dog brought into Town as provided in M.G.L. Ch. 140 § 138.

E. Abuse of Animals

- 1. No person shall abandon or neglect, abuse or intentionally injure any domesticated animal.
- 2. No person may permit, cause or procure any animal to be subjected to unnecessary torture, suffering or cruelty.
- 3. An owner or keeper of a domesticated animal is required to provide proper food and water, shelter or protection from the weather, veterinary attention needed to reduce or end suffering from disease or injury and a sanitary environment with adequate heat and ventilation.

Nothing in this by-law is intended to limit or restrict criminal enforcement under G.L. c.272 §77 or other applicable Massachusetts General Laws or Town By-laws.

F. Use of Animals as Prizes

No person shall give away any live animal as a prize for or as an inducement to enter any contest, game or other competition, or as an inducement to enter any place of amusement or business, or offer such animal as an incentive to enter into any business agreement whereby the offer was for the purpose of attracting trade.

G. Enforcement of By-laws

1. Notice of Violation and Assessment of Fine. Upon reasonable investigation and determination that Article X Section 28 (C), (D), (E), or (F) of the Town by-laws has

been violated, the Animal Control Officer may issue a Notice of Violation and thereby assess the appropriate fine.

- 2. Taking of Animals. The Animal Control Officer may take and impound in an animal shelter (no kill wherever possible) approved by the Animal Control Board:
 - (a) any domesticated animal not properly licensed and of undetermined ownership;
 - (b) any dog the Animal Control Officer reasonably believes to be a nuisance or dangerous dog as defined by state law; or
 - (c) any domesticated animal the Animal Control Officer reasonably believes may pose an immediate danger to the health, safety and public welfare of the people of the Town.

The owner or keeper of such domesticated animal shall be responsible for the costs of care and confinement and must pay such costs as a condition of release of the domesticated animal.

3. If the Animal Control Officer reasonably believes that a dog is a nuisance or dangerous dog, as defined by state law, he or she may order the dog humanely restrained and may file a complaint to the Select Board as the Hearing Authority, in accordance with G.L. c.140, §157

H. Impoundment and Disposition of Domesticated Animals

- 1. As soon as possible but no later than two (2) days after the impoundment of any animal, the owner or keeper shall be notified, or if the owner or keeper of the animal is unknown, or after reasonable efforts, is not contacted, written notice shall then be posted on a bulletin board in the office of the Town Police Department, in a local newspaper, and on the Town website and other reasonable media outlets describing the animal, place and time of taking and conditions required for the release of said animal.
- 2. The owner or keeper may obtain the release of an impounded animal upon:
 - (a) obtaining a license and tag if required by law and the payment of a late fee;
 - (b) agreement of the owner or keeper to undertake restriction or control of the animal as the Animal Control Officer shall require; and
 - (c) payment of all impound fees and fines, if any, before the animal is released. Nothing in this by-law is intended to limit or restrict the authority of the Select Board to act in accordance with G.L. c.140, §157.
- 3. Unless reclaimed by their owners, impounded animals shall be kept for the minimum number of days required by state law in an approved animal shelter. In the case of a dog where a dangerous dog complaint was filed, a public hearing on the issue was held and euthanasia was ordered, the dog may be humanely euthanized only after consultation with a licensed veterinarian and only in accordance with state law.

I Transportation of Injured Animals

Upon the Animal Control Officer's reasonable determination that any animal is seriously injured and should receive veterinary care, and such animal is of unknown ownership and unattended, the Animal Control Officer shall make reasonable efforts to transport or arrange for transportation to a licensed veterinarian such animal.

J. Fines

- 1. The Animal Control Officer and Town Police Officers shall be the enforcing authorities.
- 2. Any person violating any provisions of this by-law may, upon issuance by the Animal Control Officer of a Notice of Violation, be penalized by non-criminal disposition as provided in G.L. c.40, §21D and/or G.L. c.140, §173A, as applicable, in accordance with the following schedule: First offense: \$10.00; Second offense: \$25.00; Third and Subsequent offenses: \$50.00.
- 3. If a dog is picked up for being unlicensed or in violation of any section of these by-laws the owner must pay, in addition to appropriate fines, a pick-up fee of \$10.00 and, where applicable, a boarding fee.

K. Severability

If any part of this by-law shall be invalid, such part shall be deemed severable and the invalidity thereof shall not affect the remaining parts of this bylaw. No provision or interpretation of a provision of this by-law is intended to be either in conflict with, or an attempt to change, any statutory provision of the General Laws of the Commonwealth.

[Amended 1987, 1994, 1998, 2011, 2013, Amended (replaced in its entirety) 2015]

SECTION 29 Private Ways, Repairs, Liability and Assessments

- A. The Select Board is authorized to make temporary repairs under the provisions of G.L. c.40, §6N and permanent repairs and/or improvements under the provisions of Chapter 69 of the Acts of 2015 on private ways within the corporate limits of the Town that have been open to the public for a period of at least six (6) years, out of funds appropriated for said purpose by Town Meeting. In all cases, the entire cost shall be assessed as a betterment on those properties which benefit from the repairs.
- B. The Select Board shall make a determination that such repairs are required by public convenience and necessity before the repairs may be undertaken, which may include, but are not limited to, repairs and/or improvements for the purpose of providing (i) adequately drained ways; and/or (ii) adequate passable ways for public safety vehicles from public ways to residences. Temporary repairs shall not include the construction, reconstruction, or resurfacing of a way.
- C. The Town shall have no liability as a result of undertaking such repairs and/or improvements to private ways, except as may be provided by law, and shall be held harmless on account of any damages whatsoever caused by such repairs and/or improvements by agreement executed by the abutters who petitioned therefor, as provided below.
- D. Such temporary and permanent repairs and/or improvements to a private way shall be made only if the Select Board receives written agreements signed by at least seventy-five percent (75%) of the abutters on the way, stipulating that the way in question is private and is open to public use, agreeing to the repairs and/or improvements, and further indemnifying and holding harmless the Town, its officers, employees and agents, from all claims arising out of the carrying out of said repairs, or out of the

Town's failure to make repairs to any portion of the way at any time, including all claims brought pursuant to G.L. c.84, §25.

- E. The agreement to be signed by the foregoing abutters shall provide that: (i) the Town shall not be liable to such abutters by making the repairs; (ii) the abutters shall indemnify and hold harmless the Town with respect to such statutory liability and any and all other liability for claims caused by alleged defects in the way; (iii) such repair shall not constitute "maintenance" of such way, so as to give the way the status of a way "maintained and used as a public way" under the Massachusetts Subdivision Control Law; (iv) if assessed for repairs and/or improvements, the abutters shall not appeal the amount of the assessment and agree that the assessment may be apportioned over such number of years as determined in accordance with Section I below; and (v) such other provisions as may be deemed advisable by the Select Board.
- F. The private way shall have been opened to the public to use for six (6) years or more prior to the undertaking of such repairs, and shall remain open to the public for a period of at least twenty (20) years from the date of the last repair, for permanent repairs, and, for a period of at least seven (7) years from the date of the last repair, for temporary repairs.
- G. The Select Board shall determine the scope of repairs, including whether and to what extent any of the following shall be undertaken: grading, paving, resurfacing, scraping and filling of holes and impressions with sand, gravel or other suitable materials. Drainage repairs shall be included to the extent required by public convenience and necessity, as determined by the Select Board, upon advice and cost estimates from the Director of Public Works.
- H. The costs of the repairs and/or improvements and of borrowings undertaken by the Town pursuant to this bylaw and the Chapter 69 of the Acts of 2015 shall be assessed to and apportioned among the benefited property owners along the way so repaired or improved as a betterment pursuant to G.L. c. 80. Benefited property owners shall be owners of those properties that can be accessed using the repaired and/or improved way. Unless otherwise required by any applicable law, the formula to be used for such assessments shall be to equally apportion such costs to the owner of each property that is listed in the records of the Board of Assessors as directly abutting along and/or adjacent to the way to be repaired/improved, whether or not such property directly abuts the way or is located along the portion of the way where the specific repairs are undertaken pursuant to this bylaw, on the basis of the total costs of such repairs and/or improvements and borrowings. The provisions of G.L. c.80 shall govern the betterments assessed hereunder.
- I. The Board of Assessors may, and, at the request of the owner, shall, apportion all assessments or unpaid balances thereof into such number of equal portions, not exceeding twenty (20) years, or for such shorter period of time, as determined by the

Board of Assessors in consultation with the Select Board. The Town shall accept settlement in cash of the full amount within thirty (30) days after the assessment has been committed to the Collector. All assessments shall bear interest at a rate established by the Select Board on recommendation of the Town Treasurer, such rate to be at a minimum rate of two percent (2%) above the rate of interest charged said Town on any funds borrowed by the Town for this purpose. The Town Treasurer shall take steps to ensure that the Town shall record appropriate orders to secure payment of the amounts due under this Article in the same manner as the Town acquires liens for betterments assessed pursuant to G.L. c. 80.

J. This bylaw does not confer any obligation or duty on the Town or its agents to either initially place or to thereafter maintain, repair and/or improve said private ways so that they are safe and convenient for travel by being free from defects or want of repair. The making of such repairs and/or improvements to a private way, no matter how often or to what extent, does not constitute an acceptance by the Town of such a private way as a public ways, nor does it constitute a way being "maintained and used as a public way" under the Massachusetts Subdivision Control Law.

[Amended 1978, Amended (replaced in its entirety) 2015]

SECTION 30 The Select Board are authorized to designate certain time restricted parking areas and prohibited parking areas as "Tow Away Zones". [adopted 1987]

SECTION 30A: <u>No Parking Zones</u>

A. Parking on the following streets or portions of streets is prohibited, except (1) within 300 feet of religious institutions during organized services or special events, and (2) when temporarily authorized by the Manchester by-the-Sea Police Department:

Beach Street (east of Tappan Street with the exception of two (2) parking spaces just east of Tappan Street) (Amended STM 11.13.2023, Attorney General Approved 1/29/2024)

- B. Violations of this by-law shall be punished by fines established by the Select Board. Each day of violation shall constitute a separate offense.
- C. The Manchester by-the-Sea Police Department shall enforce this by-law. [Added October 2017]

SECTION 31 Underwater Activities

There shall be no skin-diving, scuba diving or any other underwater activities from Singing Beach at any time, and from Black Beach and White Beach, other than from the extreme ends of these beaches, from Memorial Day to the day following Labor Day. [adopted 1982]

SECTION 32 Swimming Pools

A fence of at least four (4) feet shall enclose all privately owned swimming pools. [adopted 1986]

SECTION 33 House Numbers

All houses, businesses, and other buildings within the Town of Manchester shall conspicuously display street identification numbers to assist emergency vehicles, postal and delivery vehicles to locate specific properties in the Town.

- 1. It shall be the duty of each owner or occupant to provide for the display of such number in such a manner that it is visible from the street.
- 2. Said number shall be a minimum of three inches in height and contrasting in color.
- 3. In the event that the house, building or business is not visible from the street, the number shall be displayed on a post or mailbox which is visible from the street.
- 4. A committee consisting of the Fire Chief, one member from the Assessor's department, one member from the Town Clerk's department, and one member from the Police department shall have the authority to assign numbers and street names to any property in Town. A person aggrieved by a decision of the committee make appeal to the Select Board by giving the Board and the committee written notice of appeal within 20 days after the committee gave notice of its decision. Within 30 days after receipt of the notice of appeal the Board shall hold a hearing and shall approve, modify or remand the committee's decision or take such other action as it considers appropriate. Failure of the Board to act within the 30-day period shall be deemed a remand of the committee's decision. [adopted 1988; amended 1998, 2000]
- 5. Enforcement action may be taken by any duly authorized Town official. Violation of this By-law shall have a non-criminal disposition and be punishable by a fine of twenty-five dollars (\$25.00). [Added 2009]

SECTION 34 Accessible Parking Spaces

A. No person shall park a motor vehicle, motorcycle, or like means of transportation in a designated parking space that is reserved for vehicles owned and operated by disabled veterans or by handicapped persons unless said vehicle bears the distinctive license plate, placard, or for vehicles transporting a handicapped person, displays the special identification plate authorized by Section 2 of Chapter 90 of the Massachusetts General Laws, or for any vehicle bearing the official identification of a handicapped person issued by any other state.

B. REQUIREMENT FOR PROPERTY OWNERS TO RESERVE SPACES

1. Any person or body that has lawful control of a public or private way or of improved or enclosed property used as off-street parking for businesses, shopping malls, theaters, auditoriums, sporting or recreational facilities, cultural centers, multi-family residential dwellings or for any other place where the public has a right of access as invitees or

licensees, shall be required to reserve parking spaces in said off-street parking areas for any vehicle bearing a handicapped plate or placard authorized by the state of Massachusetts or any other state or any Canadian Province or for any vehicle transporting a handicapped person and displaying the special identification plate authorized by section two of Chapter 90 according to the following formula:

Total Parking	Required Minimum Number
<u>in Lot</u>	of Accessible Spaces
15 to 25	1
26 to 50	2
51 to 75	3
76 to 100	4
101 to 150	5
151 to 200	6

One in every 8 accessible spaces, but not less than one, shall be van accessible. At medical facilities providing medical care for persons with mobility impairments, 10% of the total number of parking spaces shall be accessible.

- 2. Each parking space identified as reserved under the provisions of the previous section shall be identified by a permanently installed above-ground sign located at a height of not less than five (5) feet and not more than eight (8) feet to the top of the sign with white characters against a blue background and shall bear the words "Handicapped Parking, Special Plate or Placard Required. Unauthorized Parking Subject to Fine and Towing at the Owner's Expense," and must also contain the international symbol of accessibility which is a person in a wheelchair. Such parking spaces shall be as near as possible to a building entrance or walkway and adjacent to curb ramps or other unobstructed methods which permit sidewalk access for a handicapped person. Spaces shall meet the following specifications:
 - a) Each space shall be thirteen (13) feet wide; an eight foot wide parking space and a 5 foot access aisle marked with diagonal stripes.
 - b) Two accessible parking spaces may share a common access aisle.
 - c) Van accessible spaces shall be sixteen (16) feet wide; an eight (8) foot wide parking space and an eight (8) foot wide access aisle marked with diagonal stripes.

All accessible spaces shall contain the international symbol of accessibility on their surface, shall be level, and space for vans shall have signs designating them van accessible. On unpaved lots, parking spaces shall be designated only by the sign as defined in this section. Where the designated space cannot be located within two hundred (200) feet of an entrance accessible to the physically handicapped, a drop-off area accessible to the physically handicapped shall be provided within one hundred (100) feet of the entrance.

C. OBSTRUCTION OF ACCESS

No person shall leave any unauthorized vehicles, or allow to remain standing whether attended or unattended or allow to remain live parked within spaces designated for use by disabled veterans or handicapped people as authorized by MGL 40, Section 21, Clause (23) or such manner as to obstruct a curb ramp or any other access designed as a means of egress to a street or public way as provided for in MGL C. 40, Section 21, Clause (24).

D. APPLICABILITY

This by-law shall apply to any existing or future parking area to which the public has a right of access as invitees or licensees and which contains fifteen (15) or more parking spaces.

E. PENALTY

The penalty for parking in violation of this by-law shall be as follows:

- 1. Parking Fines-\$100.00 for first offense and \$300.00 for subsequent offenses.
- 2. Failure to establish and/or maintain the parking spaces and signs required by Section of this bylaw shall be a fine of \$100.00 for each day failure continues.

F. ENFORCEMENT

The Police Department will be charged with the enforcement of all sections of this bylaw.

G. EFFECTIVE DATE:

Establishment of Accessible Parking Spaces and erecting of Handicapped Parking signs will be completed within sixty (60) days of the effective date of this by-law. [Adopted 1997]

SECTION 35 Railroad Regulations

- 1. All persons traversing railroad crossings in the Town shall reduce the speed of the vehicle to a reasonable and proper rate before proceeding over the crossing, and shall proceed over the crossing at a rate of speed and with such care as is reasonable and proper under the circumstances; and specifically shall obey all crossing signals, coming to a complete stop upon the presence of flashing lights or crossing gates, and not traversing the tracks until the lights have ceased flashing and crossing gates have fully returned to their upright position.
- 2. No person shall interfere with the operation of trains through the Town nor tamper or interfere in any manner with crossing signals, gates or other equipment related to trains traveling through the Town.
- 3. Whereas the Massachusetts Department of Public Utilities has permitted an exemption to the requirement that whistles or horns be blown at all railroad crossings by trains traveling through the Town of Manchester-by-the-Sea; and whereas the Federal Swift Rail Development Act, as amended, contemplates the granting of exemptions to the requirement that whistles or horns be blown at all railroad crossings, which exemption is based in part on a community's restrictions that horns and whistles not be blown,

historical pattern, safety record, local by-laws, and other remedial steps taken by the community, no horn or whistle shall be sounded by any train traveling through the Town, except if the operator observes an emergency situation which in the discretion of the operator requires the blowing of such horn or whistle.

4. The Superintendent of Schools and the Chief of Police shall be requested to develop and conduct regular safety education programs in the public schools and for the citizenry at large, which programs shall inform children and adults of the dangers posed by trains traveling through the Town, and precautions to take when approaching or traversing train crossings. [Adopted and amended 1997]

SECTION 36 Tobacco Products Regulations

All tobacco products sold within the Town at any location shall require a permit issued by the Board of Health. [Adopted 1997]

SECTION 37 Tobacco Use Regulations

No person may use tobacco products in school, on school grounds, or on school property, such as buses, whether before, during, or after the school day. [Adopted 1998]

SECTION 38 Hunting

- A. All persons hunting in the Town of Manchester-by-the-Sea shall carry with them written permission from the owner, or custodial authority, of the land on which they wish to hunt. Said permission shall be dated and signed, and must be valid for a fixed period of time. All hunters must register annually with the Town Clerk before hunting, excepting those hunting waterfowl in coastal areas.
- B. The authorities or person(s) having control of public land shall designate on a map available at the Town Clerk's office those public areas that are open to hunting. (Adopted, 1999)

SECTION 39 Snow Emergency Parking Ban

- A. The Chief of Police, in consultation with the Director of Public Works, is authorized to declare a Snow Emergency Parking Ban when he or she determines, in his or her discretion, that the likelihood of snow, ice or other forms of precipitation will cause onstreet parking to threaten or impair public safety. [Amended 2014]
- B. When the Chief of Police declares a Snow Emergency Parking Ban, residents and other motorists shall be notified of the ban through the activation by the Police Department of Blue Lights located at (1) the intersection of Pine and Pleasant Streets; (2) the intersection of School and Pleasant Streets; (3) Summer Street, near Sweeney Park; (4) Bridge Street, near the intersection with Harbor Street; and (5) the Police Station on Central Street. Information concerning a Snow Emergency Parking Ban shall also be posted on the Town website.

C. While a Snow Emergency Parking Ban is in effect (the Blue Light system is on), it shall be a violation of this Bylaw to park any vehicle on any Town street, punishable in accordance with M.G.L. C. 90 S. 20A, as amended, with fines as set by the Select Board as permitted under M.G.L. C. 90 S. 20A. Each day during which the vehicle remains so parked shall constitute a separate violation. [Amended 2014, 2018]

D. This Section shall be enforced by Police officers. (Adopted 2012) (Amended 2014)

SECTION 40 Denial or Revocation of Permit for Non-Payment of Taxes or Fees

In accordance with the provisions of M.G.L., C.40, §57, as amended, the Town may deny any application for, or revoke or suspend a building permit, or any local license or permit, including renewals and transfers, issued by any board, officer, or department for any person, corporation or business enterprise who has neglected or refused to pay any local taxes, fees, assessments, betterments or any other municipal charges, including amounts assessed under the provisions of M.G.L. c.40 §21D or with respect to any activity, event or other matter which is the subject of such license or permit and which activity, event or matter is carried out or exercised or is to be carried out or exercised on or about real estate whose owner has neglected or refused to pay any local taxes, fees, assessments, betterments or any other municipal charges.

A. The tax collector or other municipal official responsible for records of all municipal taxes, assessments, betterments and other municipal charges, hereinafter referred to as the "tax collector," shall annually furnish to each department, board, commission or division, hereinafter referred to as the "licensing authority," that issues licenses or permits, including renewals and transfers, a list of any person, corporation or business enterprise, hereinafter referred to as the "party," that has neglected or refused to pay any local taxes, fees, assessments, betterments or other municipal charges for not less than a twelvemonth period, and that such party has not filed in good faith a pending application for an abatement of such tax or a pending petition before the Appellate Tax Board.

B. The licensing authority may deny, revoke or suspend any license or permit which it has the authority to issue, including renewals and transfers, of any party whose name appears on said list furnished to the licensing authority from the tax collector, or with respect to any activity, event or other matter which is the subject of such license or permit and which activity, event or matter is carried out or exercised or is to be carried out or exercised on or about real estate owned by any party whose name appears on said list; provided, however, that written notice is given to the party and the tax collector as required by applicable provisions of law and the party is given a hearing, to be held not earlier than fourteen (14) days after said notice. Said list shall be prima facie evidence for denial, revocation or suspension of said license or permit to any party. The tax collector shall have the right to intervene in any hearing conducted with respect to such license denial, revocation or suspension. Any findings made by the licensing authority with respect to such license denial, revocation or suspension shall be made only for the

purpose of such proceeding and shall not be relevant to or introduced in any other proceeding at law, except for any appeal from such license denial, revocation or suspension. Any license or permit denied, suspended or revoked under this bylaw shall not be reissued or renewed until the licensing authority receives a certificate issued by the tax collector that the party is in good standing with respect to any and all local taxes, fees, assessments, betterments or other municipal charges, payable to the municipality as of the date of issuance of said certificate.

- C. Any party shall be given an opportunity to enter into a payment agreement, thereby allowing the licensing authority to issue a certificate indicating said limitations to the license or permit, and the validity of said license shall be conditioned upon the satisfactory compliance with said agreement. Failure to comply with said agreement shall be grounds for the suspension or revocation of said license or permit; provided, however, that the holder be given notice and a hearing as required by applicable provisions of law.
- D. The Select Board may waive such denial, suspension or revocation if it finds that there is no direct or indirect business interest by the property owner, its officers or stockholders, if any, or members of his immediate family, as defined in M.G.L. C. 268, §1, in the business or activity conducted in or on said property.
- E. As limited by M.G.L. C. 40, §57, this bylaw shall not apply to licenses and permits for the following: open burning; bicycles permits; sales of articles for charitable purposes;, children work permits; clubs, associations dispensing food or beverage licenses; dog licenses; fishing, hunting, trapping licenses; marriage licenses; and theatrical events, public exhibition permits. [Adopted 2013]

SECTION 41: Stretch Energy Code

- A. Adoption. The Town of Manchester-by-the-Sea has adopted the provisions of 780 CMR 115.AA (i.e., Appendix 115.AA of the State Building Code or the "Stretch Energy Code"), as may be amended from time to time, in place of the provisions set forth under 780 CMR 13.00, 34.00, 61.00 and 93.00.
- B. Purpose. The purpose of the Stretch Energy Code shall be to provide the Town with a more energy efficient alternative to the base energy code otherwise set forth under the State Building Code. [Adopted 2013]

SECTION 42: <u>Plastic Bag Reduction</u>

A. Purpose and Intent

The production and use of thin-film single-use plastic bags have significant impacts on the marine and land environment of all coastal communities, including, but not limited to: contributing to the potential death of marine animals through ingestion and entanglement; contributing to pollution of the land environment; creating a burden to our solid waste collection and recycling facility; clogging our storm drainage systems; and requiring the use of millions of barrels of crude oil nationally for their manufacture.

The purpose of this legislation is to eliminate the usage of thin-film single-use plastic bags by all retail establishments in the Town of Manchester-by-the-Sea.

B. Definitions

"Thin-film single-use plastic bags" means bags with integral handles and a thickness of 2.5 mils or less that are intended to be used for the transport of products purchased at a retail establishment.

"ASTM D6400 standard" means the testing standard developed by the American Society for Testing and Materials for compostable plastics.

"Biodegradable bag" means a bag that: 1) contains no polymers derived from fossil fuels; and 2) is intended for single use and will decompose in a natural setting at a rate comparable to other biodegradable materials such as paper, leaves, and food waste.

Reusable bag" means a bag that is specifically designed for multiple use and is made of thick plastic, cloth, fabric or other durable materials.

C. Use Regulations

Thin-film single-use plastic bags shall not be distributed or sold at any retail establishment within the Town of Manchester-by-the-Sea.

Customers are encouraged to bring their own reusable or biodegradable shopping bags to stores. Retail establishments may reusable provide or biodegradable thick plastic, paper, fabric or other types of bags at no charge, or charge a fee for paper or other bags, as they so desire. Retail establishments are strongly encouraged to make reusable bags available for sale to customers at a reasonable price.

Thin-film plastic bags used to contain dry cleaning, newspapers, produce, meat, bulk foods, wet items and other similar merchandise, typically without handles, are exempt from the provisions of this By-law.

D. Administration and Enforcement

Retail establishments may apply to the Select Board for approval of new single-use bag products, as they come on the market, that meet, or exceed the ASTM D6400 standard .

The Police Department will be the enforcement agent for this by-law and is authorized to issue notice of violation.

This by-law may be enforced through any lawful means in law or in equity, including, but not limited to, non-criminal disposition pursuant to GL. C. 40 section 21D. Fines for civil penalties shall be issued as follows: 1) \$50 per day for each day the violation persists; 2) \$100 per day for each day that a new violation occurs after the resolution of the first violation; 3) \$200 per day for each day of any future violations that occur after the resolution of the second violation.

E. Enactment

This new By-law shall go into effect as of July 1, 2013. [Adopted 2013]

SECTION 44: FOOD WARE AND POLYSTYRENE REDUCTION BY-LAW

A. Purpose and Intent

Polystyrene food containers and plastic utensils form a significant portion of the solid waste going into our landfills, they are not biodegradable and will remain in our landfills for centuries and that portion of them that makes their way into the oceans will break down into dangerous microplastics which harm and kill marine life and may affect human health.

The purpose of this by-law is to reduce the usage of polystyrene and plastic products by all food-related and retail establishments in the Town of Manchester-by-the-Sea.

B. Prohibited Uses and Distribution of Food Service Products and Packaging

- (a) Polystyrene, polyvinyl chloride (PVC) or polyethylene terephthalate (PETE) food or beverage rigid containers shall not be used to package or serve food or beverages for sale by food establishments if that packaging takes place on the premises within the Town of Manchester by-the-Sea.
- (b) Food establishments using disposable food service products shall use biodegradable, compostable, reusable or recyclable products.
- (c) Retail establishments are prohibited from selling or distributing polystyrene disposable food service products to customers.
- (d) Retail establishments are prohibited from selling or distributing polystyrene foam packing material or products containing it to customers.

C. Exemptions

- a) Foods and goods prepared or packaged outside the Town are exempt from the provisions of this By-law.
- b) Food and retail establishments may be exempted from the provisions of this By-law for specific items for up to one year based on the decision of the Building Inspector that a suitable biodegradable, compostable, reusable, or recyclable alternative does not exist for a specific product and imposing the requirements of this By-law would

cause undue hardship to the establishment. An appeal of the Building Inspector's decision may be filed with the Select Board.

- i) "Undue hardship" is a situation unique to the food or retail establishment where there are no reasonable alternative food service products or packaging and compliance with this provision would cause significant economic hardship to that food or retail establishment.
- ii) Extensions of the exemption may be granted upon application to the Building Inspector upon showing that the circumstances justifying the exemption continue to exist.
- (c) Containers used in the packaging of prescription medicines are exempt from the provisions of this By-law.

D. Definitions

"ASTM" shall refer the American Society for Testing and Materials whose applicable standards here are: D7081 being the standard for biodegradable plastics in the marine environment; D6400 being the standard for plastics designed for compostability in municipal aerobic composting facilities; D6868 being the standard for aerobic compostability of plastics used as coatings on a compostable substrate.

"Biodegradable" shall mean entirely made of organic materials such as wood, paper, cellulose, or bioplastics that meet the ASTM D7081 standard or any other standard that may be developed specifically for an aquatic environment.

"Compostable" shall mean organic or bioplastic materials certified to meet ASTM D6400, D6868 or that conform to other third-party standards, such as Vincotte, for home composting. Any compostable product must be clearly labeled with the applicable standard.

"Disposable food service products" refers to food and beverage containers, bowls, plates, trays, cartons, cups, lids, straws, stirrers, forks, spoons, knives, film wrap, and other items designed for one-time or non-durable uses on or in which any food vendor directly places or packages prepared foods or which are used to consume foods. This includes, but is not limited to, service ware for takeout foods and leftover food from partially consumed meals prepared at food establishments.

"Food establishment" shall mean any operation that stores, prepares, packages, serves, vends, or otherwise provides food for human consumption. This includes restaurants, food service and food trucks.

"Packing material" shall mean polystyrene foam used to hold, cushion, or protect items packed in a container for shipping, transport or storage. This includes, without limitation, packing "peanuts", shipping boxes, coolers, ice chests, or similar containers made, in whole or in part, from polystyrene foam that is not wholly encapsulated or encased within a more durable material.

"Prepared food" shall mean any food or beverage prepared on the premises, using any cooking or food preparation technique regardless whether it is consumed on or off the premises.

"Polystyrene" includes foam and rigid polystyrene. Foam polystyrene includes expanded polystyrene (EPS) and extruded polystyrene, such as "Styrofoam" a trademark. EPS is generally used to make cups, bowls, plates, trays and cartons.

Rigid or oriented polystyrene is generally used to make clear containers, cups, plates, straws, lids and utensils.

"Recyclable" shall mean material that can be sorted and reconstituted using the Town's municipal recycling program or a comparable recycling program.

"Retail establishment" shall mean any business that sells goods directly to the consumer including, but not limited to, grocery stores, pharmacies, liquor stores, convenience stores, restaurants, retail and clothing stores.

"Reusable" means products that will be used more than once by a food establishment. Reusable includes tableware, flatware, cleanable durable containers, packages, or trays used on-premises or returnable containers such as soft drink bottles and milk containers that are designed to be returned to the distributor and supplier for reuse as the same food or beverage container.

E. Administration and Enforcement

The Police Department and the Building Inspector will be the enforcement agents for this By-law and both are authorized to issue notices of violation. Food and retail establishments are required to provide product, sales and any other product related information upon request.

This By-law may be enforced through any lawful means in law or in equity, including, but not limited to, non-criminal disposition pursuant to GL. C.40 §21D. Fines for civil penalties shall be issued as follows:

- 1) A written warning will be issued with 30 days granted to correct the violation;
- 2) \$50 per day for subsequent violations concerning the same product(s);
- 3) \$100 per day for violations that persist in excess of 30 days.

F. Severability

If any provision or section of this Law shall be held to be invalid, then such provision or section shall be considered separately and apart from the remaining provisions or sections of this law, which shall remain in full force and effect.

G. Enactment

This By-law shall go into effect October 1, 2019.

[Adopted 2019]

SECTION 45: CONSTRUCTION SITE ACTIVITY

(Special Town Meeting 11.14.2022 Article 5. Attorney General Approved 2.16.2023)

Section A. Definitions.

For purposes of this Article the following words and phrases shall have the meanings respectively ascribed to them by this Section:

<u>Construction</u>- Any activity requiring a building permit and any and all activity necessary or incidental to the erection, assembling, altering, installing, repair or equipping of buildings, structures, roadways, or utilities, including demolition, land clearing, grading, excavating, and filling and paving.

<u>Demolition</u>- Any dismantling, intentional destruction or removal of structures or portions thereof, utilities, public or private right-of-way surfaces, or similar property.

<u>Domestic Power Equipment</u> - Electrical, *gasoline*, battery or generator powered equipment intended for use in residential areas by a homeowner on an intermittent basis. Examples include, but are not limited to, chain saws, log splitters, power saws, drills, grinders, lawn and garden tools.

Emergency- An occurrence or set of circumstances requiring immediate action involving:

- a. the restoration of public utilities; or
- b. the restoration of property to a safe condition following a public calamity; or
- c. the protection of persons or property from imminent exposure to danger.

Emergency Work - Work which is performed in an effort to alleviate an emergency.

Emergency Vehicle- Any vehicle being operated as part of emergency work.

<u>Heavy Equipment</u>- Commercial or industrial equipment such as motorized earth moving equipment, jack hammers, pavement breakers, pile drivers, trucks for loading and unloading dumpsters, tractor-trailers, rock tumblers, rock crushers, and parking lot maintenance equipment.

<u>Pavement Breaker</u> - Any hydraulically or pneumatically powered impact device intended to cut or trench pavement, subbase macadam, gravel, concrete, or hard ground.

<u>Person</u>- Any individual, partnership, association, firm, company, trust, corporation, department, bureau or agency, or any other entity recognized by law as the subject of rights and duties and any person, as herein defined, operating under a contractual arrangement or agreement with the Town.

<u>Pile Driver</u> - An impact device designed or used for the driving of piles, columns and other supports into soil or other material by means of impact, vibrations, pressure, or other means.

Section B. Exceptions.

The provisions of this Bylaw shall not apply to:

- A. Emergency Alert. The emission of sound for the purpose of alerting persons to the existence of an emergency.
- B. Emergency Work. The emission of sound in the performance of Emergency Work.
- C. Emergency Vehicles.
- D. Snow Removal. The emission of sound for the purpose of clearance or removal of snow.
- E. Explosives. The emission of sound resulting from the use of explosives when authorized by the Fire Department in accordance with Board of Fire Prevention Regulations, 527 CMR 13, and other relevant regulations and statutes of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts.
- F. The temporary, intermittent or occasional use of homeowner's domestic power equipment.
- G. Work done by or for the municipality as approved by the Select Board.

Section C. Daytime-Only Construction Activities.

The operation of Heavy Equipment, Pavement Breakers or Pile Drivers at Construction or Demolition sites shall be limited to the hours of 8:00 a.m. to 6:00 p.m. Monday through Saturday and shall be prohibited on Sundays and legal state or federal holidays.

Section D. Enforcement and Penalties.

The Police Department shall be responsible for the enforcement of this Bylaw.

This Bylaw may be enforced through any lawful means in law or equity, including, but not limited to, non-criminal disposition pursuant to G.L. c. 40, §21D. Violations of this Bylaw shall be punished fines established by the Select Board:

(1) First Offense \$25.00

(2) Second Offense: \$50.00

(3) Third and Subsequent Offenses: \$100.00

Section E. Notification.

The Building Inspector will provide a copy of this Bylaw to any individual applying for any permit for work that might involve noise levels subject to this Bylaw but his failure to do so will not affect the enforceability of this Bylaw.

Section F. Validity.

The validity of any section or provision of this Bylaw shall not invalidate any other section of provision thereof.

Section G. Effective Date.

This Bylaw shall take effect upon compliance with the provisions of Massachusetts General Laws, c. 40, §32. [Added October 2017]

SECTION 46: DRIVEWAY ENTRANCES

A. Purpose and Intent

The purpose of this By-law is to promote pedestrian safety, limit potential traffic conflicts, and to control the flow of water onto public ways and neighboring properties.

B. Applicability

All new and relocated driveway entrances for all land uses shall require a permit issued by the Department of Public Works (DPW). This permit shall be separate and in addition to any required site plan review and prior to any building permit requiring a new or altered driveway entrance.

C. Regulation of Driveway Entrances

All driveway entrances shall be located at least 20 feet from the nearest street intersection, 10 feet from the nearest driveway entrance or fire hydrant, and 5 feet from side lot lines, trees, utility poles or street light fixtures. Driveway entrances should be designed to maximize visibility in all directions, and to minimize the flow of water onto the public way and adjacent properties. There shall be not more than one apron and curb cut per residential lot. To avoid reduction of on-street parking, to maintain accessible cross-slopes on public sidewalks, and to minimize vehicle-pedestrian conflicts, residential uses shall utilize only one driveway entrance.

The driveway width as it approaches the driveway entrance shall have a minimum of 8 feet and a maximum of 12 feet in width, with a combined driveway flare area of 5 feet divided on either side of the driveway as needed and a curb return, if applicable, of no more than 3 feet. If a sidewalk or roadway is constructed or modified, it shall be done in accordance with MAAB/ADA and DPW standards. The use of pervious materials is encouraged.

D. Administration and Enforcement

The owner must submit a Driveway/Entrance Application. Said Application shall be subject to regulations developed by the Planning Board and may be modified from time to time.

Any curb cuts that do not comply with the criteria defined herein, or in the opinion of the DPW should require special review, may be permitted if a special permit is granted by the Planning Board.

All driveway entrances in existence prior to the adoption of this By-law shall not require review unless they are substantially modified or relocated. A driveway entrance permit shall expire after 2 years of issuance.

Failure to comply with this By-law shall result in a fine of \$50 per day until the non-compliance is corrected or temporary allowances are granted by the DPW.

(Special Town Meeting 11.14.2022 Article 5. Attorney General Approved 2.16.2023)

ARTICLE XI CIVIL DEFENSE

SECTION 1 Department of Civil Defense

There is hereby established a department of civil defense (hereinafter called the "department"). It shall be the function of the department to have charge of civil defense as defined in Section 1, Chapter 639, Acts of 1950, and to perform civil defense functions as authorized or directed by said chapter or by any and all executive orders or general regulations promulgated thereunder, and to exercise any authority delegated to it by the governor under said Chapter 639.

SECTION 2 Director of Civil Defense

The Department shall be under the direction of a director of civil defense (hereinafter called the "director") who shall be appointed as prescribed by law. The director shall have direct responsibility for the organization, administration and operation of the department, subject to the direction and control of the appointing authority, and shall receive such salary as may be fixed from time to time by the appointing authority. The director may, within the limits of the amounts appropriated therefor, appoint such experts, clerks, and other assistants as the work of the department may require and may remove them, and make such expenditures as may be necessary to execute effectively the purposes of Chapter 639, Acts of 1950.

The director shall have the authority to appoint district coordinators and may accept and may receive, on behalf of the town, services, equipment, supplies, materials or funds by way of gift, grant or loan, for purposes of civil defense, offered by the Federal government or any agency or officer thereof or any person, firm or corporation, subject to the terms of the offer and the rules and regulations if any, of the agency making the offer. The director shall cause appropriate records to be kept of all matters relating to such gifts, grants or loans.

SECTION 3 <u>Civil Defense Advisory Council</u>

There is hereby established a civil defense advisory council (hereinafter called the "council"). Said council shall serve without pay and shall consist of the director of civil defense, such other department heads and such other persons as the authority appointing said director may deem necessary. Such member of said council, as said appointing authority shall designate, shall serve as chairman of said council. Said council shall serve subject to the direction and control of the appointing authority and the director of matters pertaining to civil defense.

SECTION 4 <u>Police Aid to Other Cities and Towns in Event of Riots or Other Violence Therein</u> The police department is hereby authorized to go to aid another city or town at the request of said city or town in the suppression of riots or other forms of violence therein.

SECTION 5 Termination of By-law

This by-law shall remain in force during the effective period of Chapter 639, Acts of 1950, and any act in amendment or continuation thereof or substitution therefor.

SECTION 6 Definition

All references to Chapter 639, Acts of 1950, as now in force, shall be applicable to any act or acts in amendment or continuation of or substitution for said Chapter 639.

ARTICLE XII EARTH REMOVAL

SECTION 1 Definitions

A. For the purposes of this by-law, "earth" shall include soil, sod, loam, peat, humus, clay, sand, gravel and rock.

B. For the purposes of this by-law, "Board" shall mean the Planning Board.

SECTION 2 Exemptions

- A. Notwithstanding the provisions hereof, no permit shall be required for the removal of earth from:
 - 1. any parcel in connection with the lawful construction of a residential building or structure thereon or the lawful construction of a driveway, sidewalk, path, septic system or swimming pool incidental to any such building or structure, provided that (i) the quantity of material removed does not exceed that actually displaced by the portion of building, structure, driveway, sidewalk or path below finished grade, and (ii) such construction does not excavate deeper than fifteen (15) feet from the preconstruction grade; [Amended 2007]
 - 2. any parcel of land in use by the Town of Manchester or by a higher governmental agency.
- B. The Board, without a public hearing, may issue permits for the removal from the site of earth for the following purposes:
 - 1. where necessary as part of farm, garden, or nursery activities;
 - 2. as part of cemetery operations.

SECTION 3 Earth Removal Procedure

- A. Permit Required The removal of more than 250 cubic yards of earth from any parcel of land within the Town of Manchester, not in public use, shall, except as hereinafter provided, be allowed only in accordance with a written permit therefor issued by the Planning Board. The Board may grant a permit for such removal and for temporary structures accessory thereto in accordance with the procedure hereinafter set forth for permits. Any permit granted hereunder shall lapse within one (1) year if substantial use has not sooner commenced, except for good cause shown to the Planning Board. No permit for removal shall be granted unless the Board finds that such removal (subject to the conditions imposed by the permit) will not be contrary to the best interests of the Town; and no removal operations subsequently conducted under such permit shall continue if contrary to such interests. For this purpose, removal of earth material shall be considered contrary to the best interest of the Town which:
 - 1. will be injurious or dangerous to the public health or safety;
 - 2. will produce noise, dust or other effects observable at the lot lines in amounts seriously objectionable or detrimental to the normal use of adjacent property;

- 3. will have a material adverse effect on the health or safety of persons living in the neighborhood, or the use of amenities of adjacent land; or
- 4. will have an adverse effect on natural resources, including but not limited to the recharge of the water table or condition of the surface water.
- B. Application for Permit Any person wishing to remove more than 250 cubic vards of earth from a property in the town shall file a formal application with the Planning Board, which application shall include the following specific information and supporting documentation:
 - 1. the location of the proposed excavation;
 - 2. the legal name and address of the owner of the property involved;
 - 3. the legal name and address of the petitioner, which address shall be used by the Board for all correspondence hereunder;
 - 4. property lines, names and addresses of all abutting property owners, including those across any streets;
 - 5. a detailed plan of the land involved, prepared by a Registered Civil Engineer, or a registered surveyor, and acceptable to the Board, at a scale of 1":20', or as determined appropriate, showing the entire parcel of land based on a perimeter survey and showing existing topography by five (5) foot contours within one hundred (100) feet of, and including, the site of the proposed excavation or to the property line. This contour plan shall show locations of a sufficient number of test borings made to determine the average depth of topsoil before excavation.
 - 6. a detailed plan of the land involved, prepared by a Registered Civil Engineer, or a registered surveyor, and acceptable to the Board, showing five (5) foot contours of a site as of the completion of the excavation project, all drawn to a scale acceptable to the Board. The plan shall further show the maximum depth that the applicant intends to excavate, the type of material the applicant intends to extract from the land, the manner and depth in which he shall replace the top soil, and the type of reseeding and planting he proposes to use;
 - 7. natural features such as wetlands, the 100-year flood plain, ground cover and surface and ground water. Water-table elevation shall be determined by test pits and soil borings. A log of soil borings shall be included, taken to the depth of the proposed excavation, congruent with the size and geological makeup of the site:
 - a topographical map showing drainage facilities, final grades, and proposed vegetation and trees;
 - 9. erosion and sediment-control plan;
 - 10. the amount and cost of proposed restoration materials;
 - 11. the location of monitoring wells which have been used to establish the The highest elevation of the water table shall be high water table. determined by observation wells monitored during the months of April and The observation wells' location shall be determined by the Conservation Commission or its designated agent. The information

concerning height of water table shall be gathered before application for a permit is made to the Planning Board;

- 12. the proposed form of performance security to be used; and
- 13. copies of the information outlined in the above articles one (1) through twelve (12) shall be filed with the Town Clerk and the Planning Board.

SECTION 4 General Limitations

- A. In granting a permit hereunder, the Planning Board shall impose reasonable conditions especially designated to safeguard the neighborhood and the Town. These conditions shall be written upon and shall constitute part of the written permit, including, but not limited to:
 - 1. method of removal;
 - 2. type and location of temporary structures;
 - 3. fencing;
 - 4. hours of operation;
 - 5. routes for transporting the material through the Town;
 - 6. the duration of the removal operations;
 - 7. the area and depth of excavation'
 - 8. the reestablishment of ground levels and grades;
 - 9. the steepness of slopes excavated;
 - 10. provisions for temporary and permanent drainage;
 - 11. disposition of boulders and tree stumps;
 - 12. grading of slopes and replacement of loam over the area of removal;
 - 13. planting of the area to suitable cover, including trees, necessary to restore the area to usable condition; and
 - 14. distance from excavation to street and lot lines.
- B. No permit for the removal of earth shall be approved by the Board if the work extends within two hundred (200) feet, measured horizontally, of a way open to public use, whether public or private, or on an adjacent property line, or within one hundred fifty (150) feet of a building or structure unless the Board is satisfied that such removal will not undermine the way or structure.
- C. No excavation not intended for approved building purposes nor other activity or building shall be within 100 feet, measured horizontally, of a stream, pond, wetland as defined under G.L., Chapter 131, or Section 40, or the 100-year flood elevation of any waterbody, except where another town board or committee has specifically ordered such excavation as a part of a compensatory-storage plan.
- D. No area shall be excavated so as to cause accumulation of freestanding water unless the Planning Board shall permit creation of a pond in an area not used for drinking water. Permanent drainage shall be provided in accordance with good conservation practices. Drainage shall not lead directly into streams or ponds.
- E. No earth or gravel shall be removed closer to the maximum high water table then ten (10') feet. However, upon receipt of a permit from the Planning Board, this depth to a maximum high water table may be decreased to seven (7') feet provided that the Planning Board determines that based upon soils, ground water flows, materials to be removed and any requirements that they may impose, such decrease

in depth removal shall not be deemed to adversely affect the intent or purpose of this or other sections of the Manchester By-laws. In determining the effect upon the Town of Manchester of increased earth or gravel removal, the Planning Board may require the applicant to submit a complete hydrological report, prepared by an individual or company selected by the applicant and approved by the Planning Board. All costs incurred shall be borne by the applicant. Said hydrological report shall present in detail findings relative to soils by type, ground-water direction and velocity, geologic logs describing any lines of fine material and water table depth of the subject property. The Planning Board may restrict the use of lands excavated to seven (7') feet of the high water table and set conditions on the further and future use of said land. All restrictions and conditions established by the Planning Board shall be noted as part of the permit. Specific land-use restrictions and/or conditions may be amended from time to time by the Planning Board should future circumstances warrant such amendment.

- F. All topsoil and subsoil stripped from operation areas shall be stockpiled and used in restoring the area.
- G. Any shelters or buildings erected on the premises for use by personnel or storage of equipment shall be screened from public view and shall be removed from the premises within 60 days after the permit has expired or been revoked.
- H. Operation hours shall be only between 7:00 A.M. and 4:30 P.M. on weekdays. No weekend or holiday hours are permitted. However, the Planning Board may further limit hours of operation if, after weighing factors, including impact on traffic flow and safety, it determines the public good will be served. Trucks may enter and leave the premises only within such hours. All loaded vehicles shall be suitably covered to prevent dust and contents from spilling and blowing from the load.
- I. Trucking routes and methods shall be subject to approval of the Chief of Police insofar as he may regulate industrial trucking.
- J. All access roads leading to public ways shall be treated with suitable material to reduce dust and mud for a distance of 200 feet back from the way. The operator shall clean up any spillage on public ways.
- K. Access roads shall intersect a public way at right angles for a distance of no less than fifty (50') feet and shall be constructed at an angle to the public way or with a curve so as to help screen the operation from public view. All access roads shall have at least 250 feet visibility in each travel lane entering a state-numbered or maintained highway and at least 150 feet visibility on all other streets. Access roads shall not drain directly onto public ways.
- L. Permits for the removal of earth material shall be issued for a period of not more than three (3) years, although such a permit may be renewed by the Board, without a hearing, if the Board finds all conditions have been complied with and that the work has been carried on continuously and in good faith.
- M. Any permit issued hereunder shall automatically expire upon the completion of the earth removal project for which it was issued, or at such other time as may be specified in such permit. A permit issued hereunder is not transferable and no work under any such permit shall be performed except by the holder thereof.

- N. Where the duration of the permit exceeds one (1) month, the Board shall require a bond or other security of not less than seventy-five hundred dollars (\$7,500.00) per acre to ensure compliance with its conditions or authorization under this by-law, unless, in a particular case, it specifically finds that such security is not warranted and so states in its decision, giving the reasons for its finding. Where the duration of the permit is one (1) month or less, the Board may require such security as it deems necessary or desirable. No performance bond or other security shall be released in full or in part unless and until the Planning Board is satisfied that all conditions of the permit have been met.
- O. No permit issued hereunder shall authorize any activity which is in violation of any Zoning By-laws of the Town.
- P. In consideration of the safety and health of Town residents, no permit for the use of dynamite or other explosives (Blasting) shall be approved for the purposes of constructing: i) Any commercial (i.e., non-residential) structure containing more than 100,000 square feet; or ii) Any individual structure in the Town containing more than twenty (20) housing units, Unless a) the Board is satisfied that in its specific circumstances such Blasting will conform to the guidelines promulgated by the Board for the safe and effective use of Blasting for large projects, and will be monitored by the Fire Department for compliance with all applicable safety codes, and b) the Board manifests such satisfaction by the affirmative vote of at least two-thirds of its then current members.(Adopted at ATM 2021)(Approved by Attorney General 9/24/2021)

SECTION 5 **Specific Limitations**

No permit for removal of earth shall be approved by the Board except upon the following conditions:

- A. A cover of topsoil of not less than six (6) inches in depth shall be replaced or allowed to remain, except that it shall be no greater than the depth of topsoil, if any, shown on submitted plans, and except where due to the construction of roads, buildings or other permanent physical features, such provision is, in the judgment of the Board, impractical.
- B. Retained subsoil and topsoil shall be spread over the disturbed area and treated with appropriate fertilizer or other suitable material and seeded with an appropriate mixture of grass or legume mixture as prescribed by the Conservation District, Soil Conservation Service, United States Department of Agriculture and as determined appropriate by the Planning Board, after consultation with the above noted agencies. Trees or shrubs of prescribed species will be planted to provide screening and reduce erosion during the establishment period.
- C. Restoration shall be carried on simultaneously with excavation, so that when any five (5) acres has been cleared and stumped and five (5) acres is in active mining operation, at least (5) acres shall be restored before work commences (including building haul roads) on the next contiguous five (5) acres. Final restoration work shall be completed within 120 days after expiration or withdrawal of a permit or upon cessation of operations.

- D. (1) Retaining walls (the location, dimensions, materials, design and specifications of which shall have been deemed satisfactory and approved by the Planning Board) and fencing shall be constructed as the Planning Board may require. Rock cliffs, faces or outcroppings within or bordering the excavated area shall be stabilized in a manner and with such slope as shall be deemed satisfactory and approved by the Planning Board. The owner shall maintain such retaining walls and fencing, and such rock cliffs, faces and outcroppings so stabilized, furnishing annual reports of their condition to the Building Inspector, as the Planning Board may require. [Added 2006]
- D. 2. Except as permitted by (d)(1) above, no slope shall be steeper than 1:2 (ratio of one foot vertical to two feet horizontal). 1:4 (ratio of one foot vertical to four feet horizontal) is preferred for erosion control and shall be required in sensitive areas. [Amended 2006]
- E. Unless the permit conditions expressly require alteration of drainage patterns, the land shall be left so that natural storm drainage shall leave the property at the original natural drainage points; and so that the total discharge at peak flow and the area of drainage at any one point, is not increased.
- F. Natural vegetation shall be left and maintained on undisturbed land for screening, noise reduction and erosion control purposes.

SECTION 6 Existing Operations

Earth removal activities in lawful operation at the time this by-law is adopted may continue under the terms of existing permits until the expiration thereof, and thereafter application shall be made under the terms of this by-law.

SECTION 7 Permits for Proposed Subdivisions

It is the intention of this by-law that the removal from any parcel of land for which a preliminary or definitive subdivision plan has been prepared shall be allowed only in the same manner as removal from other parcels of land in the Town. Consequently, tentative or final approval of a subdivision plan by the Planning Board shall not be construed as authorizing the removal of earth materials from the premises, except that which is to be removed in compliance with the requirements of a subdivision plan approved by the Planning Board.

SECTION 8 Notice and Hearing

No permit for the removal of earth material shall be issued by the Board, except as provided in Sections 2B and 4L, above, until a public hearing is held thereon, by the Planning Board, due notice of which shall be given by them, at the expense of the applicant, at least fourteen (14) days in advance, in a paper commonly used for such notices in the community, the posting of copies thereof on municipal bulletin boards, and the mailing of copies thereof to abutting property owners, including those across any streets.

SECTION 9 General Administration

- A. The Planning Board shall exercise the powers and duties hereunder, the Inspector of Buildings shall be the enforcement officer.
- B. The Board or the Inspector of Buildings may enter upon the premises involved from time to time to inspect and ensure proper conduct of the work.
- C. Upon the petition of the owner, permit holder, abutters, or upon its own initiative, the Board may hold a new hearing and reissue or modify the permit, subject to any conditions not in conflict with the by-law.
- D. The Board may order revocation of or suspension of the permit if the conditions established hereunder are not complied with, and the permit holder in such situation shall not be relieved of his obligations thereunder.

SECTION 10 Fees

The Board shall establish such fees for the issuance of permits as it shall find necessary for the administration of this by-law, taking into consideration the costs of clerical, civil engineering consultants, legal, and inspection expenses.

SECTION 11 Violations

- A. The Inspector of Buildings, if he concludes that there has been a violation of this by-law or of the conditions of any permit issued hereunder, shall send to the permit holder or other offender, by registered mail to the address stated on the initial application if an application has been filed, or shall post on the premises if no address can reasonably be ascertained, a notice ordering a cessation of the improper activities.
- B. If a permit holder, or other offender, persists in such violation, the Inspector of Buildings shall seek the imposition of penalties authorized by clause (17) of Section 21 of Chapter 40 of the General Laws, through appropriate legal action; and the penalty for removing earth in violation of this by-law shall be a fine \$300 for each offense.
- C. In the event that permit holder persists in such violations, the Board may notify the permit holder by mail or posting as above, of a hearing to be held not less than four (4) days thereafter to show cause why said permit should not be revoked, and following said hearing, may in its discretion, revoke or amend the permit.

SECTION 12 Validity

The validity of any section or provision of this by-law shall not invalidate any other section or provision thereof.

SECTION 13 Effective Date

The by-law shall take effect upon compliance with the provisions of Section 32 of Chapter 40 of the General Laws.

[Amended 1987,2001]

ARTICLE XIII PERSONNEL BY-LAW

SECTION 1 Purpose and Intent

The purpose of the personnel by-law is to establish a system of personnel administration, classification and compensation based on principles that ensure a uniform, fair and efficient application of personnel policies. The intent of this by-law is to provide a method of recruitment, selection, and development of a work force that is skilled and effective in accomplishing the service delivery missions of the Town. Personnel actions are to be made without regard to sex, race, religion, color, age as defined by law, handicap, sexual orientation, political affiliation or other non-job related factors.

The personnel by-law is adopted pursuant to the authority granted by Article LXXXIX of the Constitution of the Commonwealth and General Law, Chapter 41, Sections 108A and 108C. Nothing in this by-law shall be construed to conflict with Chapter 31 of the General Laws of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts (Civil Service).

SECTION 2 Application

All Town departments and positions shall be subject to the provisions of this by-law and any regulations adopted pursuant to this by-law, excluding elected officers of the Town. [Amended 2002]

To the extent that any collective bargaining agreement conflicts with any provision of this by-law with respect to employees covered under such labor agreements, the provisions of the collective bargaining agreement shall prevail.

This personnel by-law and the regulations adopted pursuant to its provisions are intended to supersede any other previously adopted personnel by-law or other regulations or policies.

SECTION 3 Town Administrator

The Town Administrator shall be responsible for the establishment and maintenance of a personnel system based on principles referred to in this bylaw and shall adopt personnel rules and regulations in accordance with Section 5 of this by-law. [Amended 2002]

SECTION 4 Establishment of a Personnel System

A personnel system shall be established by the adoption of rules and regulations pursuant to Section 5. The personnel system may include but not be limited to the following elements: a method of administration; a method of recruiting and selecting employees; a classification and compensation plan; a centralized record keeping system; personnel rules and regulations which indicate rights and obligations of employees; disciplinary procedures; and other elements that are deemed necessary.

SECTION 5 Adoption of Personnel Rules and Regulations

Personnel rules and regulations defining the rights, benefits and obligations of employees subject to this by-law shall be adopted or amended as follows:

A. Preparation of Rules and Regulations

The Town Administrator shall prepare proposed personnel rules and regulations. Any member of the Select Board, the Town Administrator, any appointing authority, or any two employees may suggest rules and regulations for consideration by the Town Administrator. The Town Administrator need not consider any proposal already considered by the Town Administrator in the preceding six months. Any person suggesting a new or amended rule or regulation shall provide the substance and reason for the rule or regulation change in writing.

B. Public Hearing

The Town Administrator shall hold a public hearing on suggested rules and regulations. A summary of any suggested rules and regulations or amendments to rules and regulations shall be advertised in a newspaper circulated in the Town of Manchester-by-the-Sea and the full text shall be posted on the Town Hall bulletin board at least five business days prior to the public hearing at which such suggestions are to be considered. The Town Administrator shall submit a copy of any suggested rule or regulation to the Select Board.

C. Town Administrator Action on Suggested Rules and Regulations

Within a reasonable period of time after the public hearing on any suggested rule or regulation, the Town Administrator shall determine if the suggested rule or regulation shall be recommended for adoption by the Select Board.

D. Action by the Select Board

The Town Administrator shall transmit any recommendations for the adoption of personnel rules and regulations or amendments, including the text, in writing to the Select Board. The Select Board shall consider the recommendations of the Town Administrator and may adopt or reject the recommendations provided, however, if the Select Board fails to act, recommended rules and regulations shall be deemed adopted upon the expiration of forty-five days from the date of transmittal of the recommendations to the Select Board.

E. Posting of Rules and Regulations

The Select Board shall cause the posting of the text of adopted rules and regulations in prominent work locations.

F. Official Record

The Town Clerk shall maintain a compilation of all personnel rules and regulations adopted by the Select Board. [Amended 2002]

SECTION 6 Severability

The provisions of this by-law and any regulations adopted pursuant to this by-law are severable. If any by-law provision or regulation is held invalid, the remaining provisions of the by-law or regulations shall not be affected thereby.

SECTION 7 Effective Date/Implementation

This amendment of the Personnel By-law shall take effect on July 1, 2002. Personnel rules and regulations then in effect shall remain in effect until amended in accordance with Section 5. The terms of Personnel Board members in office on July 1, 2002 shall expire at that time. [Amended 1991, 2002]

ARTICLE XIV RESIDENT PARKING

SECTION A1 Resident Parking, Permission to Park Passenger Vehicles on Certain Streets

Where parking or standing of a passenger vehicle is not otherwise prohibited by the Traffic Rules and Regulations of the Town of Manchester, adopted by the Board of Selectmen on May 10, 1949, as amended, parking on certain streets designated by the Select Board after a public hearing shall be limited only to passenger vehicles registered under Chapter 90 of the Massachusetts General Laws, as principally garaged in the Town of Manchester, bearing a sticker as provided for in Section A2 hereof.

However, vehicles without a sticker may park in legal parking spaces on Allen Avenue, Arbella Street, Brook Street, Lincoln Street, Norwood avenue, Pleasant Street Extension, Rosedale Avenue, and Vine Street from within one hour before to one hour after **all scheduled School athletic games and special** School events at both the schools and the Brook Street playground and athletic field.

SECTION A2 Resident Parking, Resident Parking Sticker, Application Procedure, Visitors' Permit, Fees

Every passenger vehicle having a capacity of less than one (1) ton registered to a resident and is so garaged is entitled to a resident sticker which will be provided by the Town. Each resident parking sticker shall entitle the bearer to park his or her vehicle on any street in the Town of Manchester, provided there is space available and provided parking is permitted in said area. Said sticker does not permit parking in an area otherwise restricted by the Traffic Rules and Regulations of the Town of Manchester. Said parking sticker shall have a printed expiration date.

Each residence is eligible to obtain up to two (2) visitor placards from the Parking Clerk. Such placard is to be used in any street resident area that is not otherwise restricted by the Traffic Rules and Regulations of the Town of Manchester. Visitor placards shall have a printed expiration date. Additionally, visitor placards may be used in any of the following municipal lots: Norwood St, Brook St, Town Hall, and Masconomo Park. Visitor placards are not permitted at Singing Beach, Tuck's Point or White Beach.

Section A3 JUNK CARS

No person in charge or control of any real estate within the Town, whether as owner, tenant, occupant, lessee or otherwise, shall allow any partially dismantled, nonoperating, wrecked or junked motor vehicles to remain on such property longer than 60 days without a valid windshield sticker, so-called, issued and displayed in accordance with the requirements of Chapter 90, Section 7A of the General Laws as amended, and the rules and regulations of the Registrar of Motor Vehicles, unless a permit therefor has been obtained from the Zoning Board of Appeals. The Board shall not issue a permit unless it finds that such vehicle on said premises will not constitute a hazard to the safety or welfare of the inhabitants of the Town nor will otherwise nullify or substantially derogate from the intent or purpose of this By-law. No such permit shall be required for a vehicle in an enclosed building nor for a vehicle on the property of a lawful business or farming enterprise necessary to such operation, or for motor vehicles at the place of business of a holder of a class license under Sections 58 and 59 of Chapter 140 of the General Laws. (Special Town Meeting 11.14.2022 Article 5. Attorney General Approved 2.16.2023) (Amended STM 11.13.2023, Attorney General Approved 1/29/2024)

ARTICLE XV FEES

Except as otherwise provided by law, all fees collected by any officer of the Town on behalf of the Town shall be paid into the Town Treasurer and a true return thereof shall be made to the Town Accountant stating the accounts upon which amounts were received. The aggregate annual compensation of the Town Clerk and the Collector of Taxes, respectively, shall be limited to the amount of the appropriation therefor.

ARTICLE XVI HISTORIC DISTRICT BY-LAW

- SECTION 1 This by-law shall be known and may be cited as the Manchester Historic District by-law and is adopted pursuant to Chapter 40C of the General Laws of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, as amended.
- SECTION 2 The purpose of this by-law is to promote the educational, cultural, economic and general welfare of the public through the preservation and protection of the distinctive characteristics of buildings and places significant in the history of the Town of Manchester or their architecture, and through the maintenance and improvement of settings for such buildings and places and the encouragement of design compatible therewith.
- SECTION 3 There is hereby established under the provision of Chapter 40C of the General Laws an historic district to be known as the Manchester Historic District, which district is bounded and described as follows:

Beginning at the northerly boundary of the B&M Railroad at the southwesterly corner of Lot 14; and thence running northerly along the westerly boundaries of Lots 14, 66, 65 and 64 to the northwesterly corner of Lot 64; thence turning and running northeasterly to the southwesterly corner of Lot 7; thence turning and running northerly along the westerly boundary of Lot 7 to the northerly boundary of Lot 7; thence turning and running northeasterly along the northwesterly boundaries of Lots 7, 8, 9, 10, 11 and 12 to the northeasterly corner of Lot 12; thence turning and running northeasterly to the northwesterly corner of Lot 13; thence turning and running easterly along the northerly boundaries of Lots 13, 15, 16, 17, 18, 19, 20 and 21 to the northeasterly corner of Lot 21; thence turning and running southeasterly to the northwesterly corner of Lot 22; thence turning and running easterly along the northerly boundaries of Lots 22, 23, 24, 25 and 26 to the northeasterly corner of Lot 26; thence turning and running southeasterly to the northerly corner of Lot 27; and thence running southeasterly along the northeasterly boundaries of Lots 27, 26, 30 and 34 to the middle of the northwesterly boundary of Lot 35; thence turning and running northeasterly along the northwesterly boundaries of Lots 35, 36, 37 and 37a; to the northeasterly corner of Lot 37A; thence turning and running southeasterly to the northwesterly corner of Lot 38; thence turning and running southeasterly along the northeasterly boundary of Lot 38 to Lot 39; thence turning and running northeasterly along the northwesterly boundary of Lot 39 to the northwesterly corner of Lot 39; thence turning and running southeasterly along the northeasterly boundary of Lot 39; thence turning and running southwesterly along the southeasterly boundary of Lot 39 to the northeasterly boundary of Lot 41; thence turning and running southeasterly along the northeasterly boundaries of Lots 41 and 42 to Lot 43; thence turning and running northeasterly along the northwesterly boundary of Lot 43 to Lot 45; thence turning and running southeasterly on the northeasterly

boundary of Lot 43 and 44 to Summer Street; thence turning and running southwesterly along Summer Street and northwesterly along Washington Street to the southwesterly corner of Lot 44; thence turning and running southeasterly to the northeasterly corner of Lot 114; thence turning and running southwesterly to the southerly corner of said Lot 114; thence turning and running southwesterly to the corner of Lots 112 and 113; thence turning and running southwesterly to the southerly corner of Lot 112; thence turning and running northwesterly along the southwesterly boundaries of Lots 112, 111, 110, 109, 108, 107, 106 to Lot 105; thence turning and running southwesterly along the southeasterly boundaries of Lots 104 and 103 to the southerly corner of Lot 103; thence turning and running northwesterly along the southwesterly boundaries of Lots 103 and 102 to Beach Street; thence turning and running southwesterly to the southerly corner of Lot 101a; thence turning and running northwesterly along the southwesterly boundaries of Lots 101a, 100 and 99 to Lot 98; thence turning and running southwesterly along the southeasterly boundaries of Lots 98 and 97 to the southerly corner of Lot 97; thence turning and running northwesterly along the southwesterly boundaries of Lot 97 to Church Street; thence turning and running northwesterly to the southerly corner of Lot 88; thence turning and running westerly along the southerly boundary of Lot 87 to the southwesterly corner of Lot 87; thence turning and running northerly along the westerly boundaries of Lots 87 and 86 to Lot 84; thence turning and running westerly along the southerly boundaries of Lots 83, 82, 81 and 80 to Lot 79; thence turning and running southwesterly along the southeasterly boundaries of Lots 79, 78, 77, 76, 75, 74 to Lot 73; thence turning and running southerly along the easterly boundary of Lot 73 to Lot 71; thence turning and running southeasterly and southerly along the northeasterly and easterly boundaries of Lots 71, 70, 69, 68 and 67 to land of the Boston and Maine Railroad; thence turning and running westerly along the northerly boundary of the B & M Railroad to the southwesterly corner of Lot 14 and point of beginning, meaning and intending to describe all lots facing Ashland Avenue, all lots on Bridge Street beginning with Lot 64, but excluding Lot 6, all lots facing on Central Street, all lots facing on Church Street, all lots facing on Union Street, all lots facing on Washington Street, and including Lot 44 on Summer Street as shown on plan entitled, "Proposed Manchester Historic District", dated March 24, 1975 by Stanley Magnuson. See Map, page 83.)

SECTION 4

There is hereby established under Chapter 40C of the General Laws, with all of the powers and duties of an historic district commission under such statute, a Manchester Historic District Commission consisting of seven members to be appointed in accordance with the provisions of such statute except, in addition to nominees set forth therein, four members shall be appointed from not less than six nominees submitted by the property owners in the district. The initial appointments to membership in the Commission shall be as follows: two members appointed for a term of one year; two members appointed for a term of two years; and three members appointed for a term of three years. Successors shall each be appointed for a term of three years. Vacancies shall be filled in the same manner as the original appointment for the unexpired term.

- SECTION 5 The Commission shall meet at least once a month, and shall act on all applications for certificates filed with them in accordance with Section 11 of 40C, except that when a public hearing is required, the commission shall make a determination within thirty-three days of the filing of the application, and upon failure to make a determination within such time, the commission shall thereupon issue a certificate of hardship.
- SECTION 6 Any applicant aggrieved by a determination of the commission may, within twenty days after the filing of notice of such determination, with the Town Clerk, file a written request with the commission for a review by a person or persons of competence and experience in such matters designated by the Regional Planning Agency of which the town is a member. The finding of the person or persons making such review shall be filed with the Town Clerk within twenty days after the request, and shall be binding on the applicant and the Commission, unless a further appeal is sought in the Superior Court, as set forth in Chapter 40C, Sec. 12A of the General Laws.
- SECTION 7 Notwithstanding anything contained in this by-law to the contrary, the authority of the Commission shall not extend to the review of the following categories or buildings or structures or exterior architectural features in the Manchester Historic District:
 - (a) Terraces, walks, driveways, sidewalks and similar structures, or any one or more of them, provided that any such structure is substantially at grade level.
 - (b) Storm doors and windows, screens, window air conditioners, lightning fixtures, antennae and similar appurtenances, or any one or more of them.
 - (c) The color of paint.
 - (d) The color of materials used on roofs.
 - (e) The reconstruction substantially similar in exterior design of a building, structure or exterior architectural feature damaged or destroyed by fir, storm or other disaster provided such reconstruction is begun within one year thereafter and carried forward with due diligence.
- SECTION 8 In case any section, paragraph or part of this by-law be for any reason declared invalid or unconstitutional by any court of competent jurisdiction, every other section, paragraph or part shall continue in full force and effect.

 [Adopted 1975]

ARTICLE XVII GENERAL WETLANDS BY-LAW

SECTION I. Purpose

- 1.1 The purpose of this By-Law is to protect the wetlands, water resources, flood prone areas, and adjoining upland areas in the Town of Manchester-by-the-Sea ("Town") by controlling initiatives and activities deemed by the Town Conservation Commission ("ConCom") likely to have a significant effect, immediate or cumulative, on the: protection of public or private water supply; protection of groundwater supply; flood control; erosion and sedimentation control; storm damage prevention, including coastal storm flowage; water quality; avoidance of water pollution; protection of fisheries; protection of land containing shellfish; protection of wildlife habitat and rare species habitat; agriculture; aquaculture; and other resource area values deemed important to the Town.
- 1.2 Subject to the rights and benefits accorded to agricultural uses and agricultural structures of all kinds under the laws of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts ("Commonwealth") and other relevant By-Laws of the Town, this By-Law is intended to utilize the Home Rule authority of the Town to:
 - 1.2.1 protect salt marshes, freshwater wetlands, streams, and coastal banks to a greater degree than under the Wetlands Protection Act, M.G.L. Ch.131 §40, *et. seq.* ("Act");
 - 1.2.2 protect vernal pools as an additional resource area recognized by the Town as significant, but not included in the Act;
 - 1.2.3 protect all resource areas for their additional values beyond those recognized in the Act; and
 - 1.2.4 impose, through local regulations and permits, additional standards and procedures stricter than those of the Act and its implementing regulations, 310 C.M.R. 10.00, *et.seq.* ("Regulations").

SECTION 2. Definitions

- 2. 1 Except as otherwise provided in this By-Law or in the regulations promulgated hereunder, the definitions of terms and the procedures in this By-Law shall be as set forth in the Act and Regulations. The following definitions shall apply in the interpretation and implementation of this By-Law.
- 2.1 "Agriculture" shall include the activities defined and described in 310 C.M.R. 10.04.
- 2.2 "Alter" shall mean, without limitation, the following activities when undertaken in, to, upon, within or affecting resource areas protected by this By-Law:
 - 2.2.1 Grading, removal, excavation, filling or dredging of soil, sand, gravel, or aggregate materials of any kind;

- 2.2.2 Changing of preexisting drainage characteristics, flushing characteristics, salinity distribution, sedimentation patterns, flow patterns, or flood retention characteristics:
- 2.2.3 Drainage, to or from, or other disturbance of, water level or water table;
- 2.2.4 Dumping, depositing or discharging of, or filling with, any solid or liquid;
- 2.2.5 Placing of fill, or removal of material, which would change elevation;
- 2.2.6 Construction, erection, demolition, expansion or repair of buildings or structures of any kind;
- 2.2.7 Fabrication, pouring or installation of building or structural foundations;
- 2.2.8 Driving or removal of piles;
- 2.2.9 Placing of obstructions or objects in water;
- 2.2.10 Destruction of plant life including cutting or trimming of trees and shrubs;
- 2.2.11 Changing temperature, biochemical oxygen demand, or other physical, biological, or chemical characteristics of any waters;
- 2.2.12 Any activities, changes or work which may cause or tend to contribute to pollution of any body of water or groundwater; and
- 2.2.13 Any incremental activities, changes or work which have, or may have, a cumulative adverse impact on the Resource Areas protected by this By-Law.
- 2.3 "Bank" shall include the land area which normally abuts and confines a water body, the lower boundary being the mean annual low flow level, and the upper boundary being the first observable break in the slope or the mean annual flood level, whichever is higher.
- 2.4 "By-Law" shall mean the General Wetlands By-Law of the Town.
- 2.5 "Person" shall mean any individual, group of individuals, association, partnership, corporation, company, business organization, trust, estate, the Commonwealth or political subdivision thereof to the extent subject to town bylaws, administrative agency, public or quasipublic corporation or body, the Town, and any other legal entity, its legal representatives, agents, or assigns.
- 2.6 "Pond" shall mean the definition as provided by 310 CMR 10.04, except that the size threshold shall be 5,000 square feet.
- 2.7 "Practicable Alternative" shall mean that which is reasonably available and capable of being done after taking into consideration the proposed property use, overall project purpose (e.g., residential, institutional, commercial, or industrial), logistics, existing technology, costs of the alternatives, and overall project costs.
- 2.8 "Stream" means a body of running water, including brooks and creeks, whether naturally occurring, artificially created or artificially modified, which moves in a definite channel in the ground due to a hydraulic gradient, and which flows within, into, or out of, a Resource Area. A portion of a stream may flow through a culvert or beneath a bridge. Such a body of running

water which does not flow throughout the year (*i.e.* which is intermittent) is a stream except for that portion upgradient of all bogs, swamps, wet meadows and marshes.

- 2.9 "Vernal Pool" shall mean, in addition to scientific definitions found in the Regulations, any confined basin or depression not occurring in existing lawns, gardens, landscaped areas or driveways which:
 - 2.9.1 in most years holds water for a minimum of two continuous months during the spring and/or summer;
 - 2.9.2 contains at least 200 cubic feet of water at some time during most years;
 - 2.9.3 is free of adult predatory fish populations; and
 - 2.9.4 provides essential breeding and rearing habitat functions for amphibian, reptile or other vernal pool community species, regardless of whether the site has been certified by the Massachusetts Division of Fisheries and Wildlife.
 - 2.9.5 The boundary of the Resource Area for vernal pools shall be the 100 feet perpendicular to the mean annual high-water line defining the depression.

SECTION 3. Regulations

- 3.1 After public notice and public hearing, the ConCom may promulgate rules and regulations to effectuate the purposes of this By-Law, effective when voted and filed with the Town Clerk.
- 3.2 The ConCom may establish in its rules and regulations design specifications, performance standards, and other measures and safeguards, including setbacks, no-disturb areas, no-build areas, maintenance of strips of continuous undisturbed vegetative cover, landscaping and other features, and other work limits for protection of Resource Area Buffer Zones [as hereinafter defined].
- 3.3 Failure by the ConCom to promulgate rules or regulations, or a legal declaration by a court of law of the invalidity of such rules or regulations, shall not act to suspend or invalidate the effect of this By-Law.

SECTION 4. Jurisdiction and Presumption

- 4.1 Except as permitted by the ConCom pursuant to this By-Law or as otherwise allowed by this By-Law, no person shall commence to alter the following areas ("Resource Areas"):
 - 4.1.1 any freshwater or coastal wetland; salt marsh; wet meadow; bog; swamp; vernal pool; spring; bank; reservoir; lake; pond; river or stream; beach; dune; estuary; coastal bank; lands under any water body; land subject to flooding or inundation by groundwater or surface water; land subject to tidal action; coastal storm flowage or flooding; and
 - 4.1.2 lands within 200 feet of any river or perennial stream, brook or creek ("Riverfront Area").

- 4.2 Except as permitted by the ConCom pursuant to this By-Law or as otherwise allowed by this By-Law, no person shall commence to alter lands within 100 feet of any: freshwater or coastal wetland; salt marsh; wet meadow; bog; swamp; vernal pool; spring; bank; reservoir; lake; pond; stream; beach; dune; estuary; coastal bank; lands under any water body; or land subject to tidal action ("Resource Area Buffer Zone(s)")
- 4.3 A Resource Area, where isolated and of a size of 5,000 square feet or greater, shall be protected whether or not it borders surface waters.
- 4.4 Unless the applicant demonstrates by clear and convincing evidence that a significant adverse effect will not occur, it shall be presumed that significant adverse effects will result from any alteration within:
 - 4.4.1 a Resource Area, other than land subject to flooding or inundation by groundwater, or surface water or coastal storm flowage or flooding;
 - 4.4.2 30 feet of the edge of any salt marsh, freshwater wetland or vernal pool; or
 - 4.4.3 30 feet of the top of any coastal or inland bank. [Amended 2014]
- 4.5 The jurisdiction of this By-Law shall not extend to uses and structures of agriculture, including work performed for normal maintenance or improvement of land in agricultural or aquacultural uses.

SECTION 5. Exemptions and Exceptions

- 5.1 A Notice of Intent ("NOI") or permit is not required to be issued prior to commencing an emergency project necessary for the protection of the health and safety of the public, provided that: [Amended 2014]
 - 5.1.1 the work is to be performed by, or has been ordered to be performed by, an agency of the Commonwealth, a political subdivision thereof, or the Town;
 - 5.1.2 advance notice, oral or written, has been given to the ConCom prior to commencement of work or within 24 hours after commencement;
 - 5.1.3 the ConCom or its agent certifies the work as an emergency project;
 - 5.1.4 the work is performed only for the time and place certified by the ConCom for the limited purposes necessary to abate the emergency; and
 - 5.1.5 within twenty one (21) calendar days of commencement of an emergency project, a NOI shall be filed with the ConCom for review as provided by this By-Law.
 - 5.1.6 Upon failure to meet these and other requirements of the ConCom, the ConCom may, after notice and a public hearing, revoke or modify an emergency project approval and order restoration and mitigation measures.
- 5.2 A NOI or permit is not required for maintaining, repairing, or replacing, but not significantly changing or enlarging, an existing and lawfully located structure or facility used in the service of the public to provide electric, gas, water, telephone, or other telecommunication services, provided that:

- 5.2.1 written notice has been given to the ConCom prior to commencement of work; and
- 5.2.2 the work conforms to any performance standards and design specifications in regulations adopted by the ConCom.
- 5.3 A NOI or permit shall not be required for work performed for normal maintenance or improvement of land in agricultural and aquacultural use as defined by this By-Law or the rules and regulations promulgated hereunder.
- 5.4 Other than as stated in this Section 5, all work that is exempted from regulation under the Act or the Regulations is subject to this By-Law. A NOI and a permit may be required by this By-Law whether or not an Order of Conditions ("OOC") is also required under the Act.

SECTION 6. Applications and Fees

- 6.1 Except as provided in Section 5 hereof, a written NOI application shall be filed with the ConCom to prior to performing any activity affecting a Resource Area. The NOI shall include such information and plans as are deemed necessary by the ConCom to describe proposed activities and their effects on the Resource Area or Resource Area Buffer Zone. No activities shall commence without receiving and complying with a permit issued pursuant to this By-Law.
- 6.2 The ConCom may, in its discretion, accept as the application and plans under this By-Law, the application and plans filed under the Act or Regulations, but the Commission is not obliged to do so.
- 6.3 Any person desiring to know whether or not a proposed activity or an area is subject to this By-Law may request, in writing, a determination from the ConCom through a Request for Determination of Applicability ("RDA") or Abbreviated Notice of Resource Area Delineation ("ANRAD") as authorized under the Regulations, and shall include information and plans as are deemed necessary by the ConCom.
- 6.4 At the time of a NOI, the applicant shall pay a filing fee specified in the rules and regulations of the ConCom. The fee is in addition to that required by the Act and Regulations. The Fee is not refundable.
- 6.5 Pursuant to M.G.L. Ch. 44 §53G, and any rules and regulations promulgated by the ConCom hereunder, the ConCom may impose reasonable fees upon applicants for the purpose of securing outside consultants including engineers, wetlands scientists, wildlife biologists or other experts in order to aid in the review of proposed projects ("Consultant Fee(s)"). Any consultant hired under this provision shall be selected by, and report exclusively to, the ConCom.
- 6.6 The Consultant Fee shall be deposited with the Town Treasurer, who shall create an account specifically for this purpose. Additional Consultant Fees may be requested where the

requisite review is more expensive than originally anticipated, or where new information requires additional consultant services.

- 6.7 Only costs relating to consultant work done in connection with a project for which a consultant fee has been collected shall be paid from this account, and expenditures may be made at the sole discretion of the ConCom.
- 6.8 The ConCom shall provide applicants with written notice of the selection of a consultant, identifying the consultant, the amount of the fee to be charged to the applicant, and a request for payment of that fee. Notice shall be deemed to have been given on the date it is mailed or delivered and the applicant may withdraw the application or request within five (5) business days of the date notice is given without incurring any costs or expenses.
- 6.9 The entire Consultant Fee must be received before the initiation of consulting services. Failure by the applicant to pay the requested Consultant Fee within five (5) business days of the request for payment shall be cause for the ConCom to declare the NOI administratively incomplete and deny the permit without prejudice, except in the case of an appeal. The ConCom shall inform the applicant and Department of Environmental Protection (DEP) of such a decision in writing.
- 6.10 The applicant may appeal the selection of an outside consultant to the Town Select Board, who may disqualify the consultant only on the grounds that the consultant has a conflict of interest or is not properly qualified. The minimum qualifications shall consist of either an educational degree or three or more years of practice in the field at issue, or a related field. The applicant shall make such an appeal in writing, and must be received within five (5) business days of the date that request for Consultant Fees was made by the ConCom. Such appeal shall extend the applicable time limits for action upon the NOI.

SECTION 7. Notice and Hearings

- 7.1 Any person filing a NOI, ANOI (Abbreviated Notice of Intent), ANRAD or an Amendment to an OOC with the Conservation Commission shall, at the same time, give written notice thereof, by certified mail (return receipt requested), certificate of mailing, certification of delivery, or by hand delivery to: [Amended 2014]
 - 7.1.1 all abutters at their mailing addresses as shown on the most recent applicable tax list of the assessors;
 - 7.1.2 owners of land directly opposite the applicant's property on any public or private street or way; and
 - 7.1.3 abutters to the abutters within 300 feet of the property line of the applicant, including any in another municipality or across a body of water.
- 7.2 The notice required in Section 7.1 shall:
 - 7.2.1 state a brief description of the project or other proposal;
 - 7.2.2 the date of any ConCom hearing or meeting date, if known;

- 7.2.3 include a copy of the NOI or request, with plans, or shall state that a copy of the NOI or request, with plans, may be examined at the ConCom offices during regularly scheduled business hours.
- 7.3 An affidavit of the person providing such notice, with a copy of the notice mailed or delivered, shall be filed with the ConCom. When the person requesting a determination is not the owner, the request, the notice of the hearing and the determination itself shall be sent by the applicant to the owner.
- 7.4 The ConCom shall conduct a public hearing on any NOI, RDA, or ANRAD, with written notice given at the expense of the applicant, at least five (5) business days prior to the hearing, in a newspaper of general circulation in the Town.
- 7.5 The ConCom shall commence the public hearing within twenty one (21) calendar days from receipt of a completed NOI, RDA, or ANRAD, unless an extension is authorized in writing by the applicant. The ConCom shall have authority to continue the hearing to a specific date announced at the hearing, for reasons stated at the hearing, including, but not limited to:
 - 7.5.1 the need for additional information from the applicant, or others, as deemed necessary by the ConCom in its discretion;
 - 7.5.2 failure of the applicant to timely supply information deemed necessary by the ConCom;
 - 7.5.3 based on comments and recommendations of the boards and officials listed in Section 8 hereof; or
 - 7.5.4 at the request of the applicant.
- 7.6 The ConCom, in its discretion, may combine its hearing under this By-Law with the hearing conducted under the Act and Regulations.
- 7.7 The ConCom shall issue a permit, other order or determination in writing, within twenty one (21) calendar days of the close of the public hearing thereon, unless an extension is authorized in writing by the applicant.

SECTION 8. Coordination with Other Boards

- 8.1 Any person filing a NOI, RDA, or ANRAD with the ConCom, or any amendment thereto, shall provide a copy thereof, together with any accompanying plans, within five (5) calendar days after filing with the ConCom, by certified mail (return receipt requested), certificate of mailing, certification of delivery, or hand delivery, to the Town Planning Board, Board of Health and Building Inspector and such other Town Boards and officials as the ConCom or its Administrator may request.
- 8.2 If the NOI, RDA or ANRAD pertains to property within three hundred (300) feet of an adjoining city or town, a copy shall be provided in the same manner to the Conservation Commission of the adjoining municipality or town.

8.3 An affidavit of the person providing notice, with a copy of the notice mailed or delivered, shall be filed with the ConCom. The ConCom shall not take final action until the boards and officials of Section 8.1 have had fourteen (14) calendar days from receipt of notice to file written comments and recommendations with the ConCom, which the ConCom shall consider, but which shall not be binding on the ConCom. The applicant shall have the right to receive any comments and recommendations, and to respond to them at a hearing of the ConCom, prior to final action.

SECTION 9. Permits and Conditions

- 9.1 If the ConCom, after a public hearing, determines that the activities which are the subject(s) of a NOI, or the land and water uses which will result therefrom, are likely to have an adverse effect, immediate or cumulative, upon a Resource Area, the ConCom shall, within twenty one (21) calendar days of the close of the hearing, issue or deny a permit for the activities requested.
- 9.2 When making its decision as to the issuance or denial of a permit, the ConCom shall consider the:
 - 9.2.1 extent to which the applicant has avoided, minimized and mitigated any such immediate or cumulative effect; and
 - 9.2.2 cumulative adverse effects of loss, degradation, isolation, replacement or replication of Resource Areas in the Town and the watershed, resulting from past activities, permitted and exempt, the proposed activities, and foreseeable future activities.
- 9.3 Where the ConCom determines that the activities which are the subject of a NOI may have an adverse effect, immediate or cumulative, within fifty (50) feet of a Resource Area, the ConCom shall not permit such activity unless the applicant demonstrates, by a preponderance of credible evidence, that there is no practicable alternative to the proposed activity which would have a materially less adverse effect on the Resource Area.
- 9.4 If the ConCom issues a permit, it may impose conditions which it deems necessary or appropriate to protect the Resource Area(s), and all activities authorized by a permit issued by the ConCom shall be conducted in accordance with the conditions of such permit.
- 9.5 Where no conditions are adequate to protect said Resource Area(s), the ConCom is empowered to deny a permit for failure to meet the requirements of this By-Law. The ConCom may also deny a permit for failure to:
 - 9.5.1 submit necessary information and plans requested by the ConCom;
 - 9.5.2 comply with the procedures, design specifications, performance standards, and other requirements in the rules and regulations promulgated hereunder; or
 - 9.5.3 avoid, minimize or mitigate unacceptable significant or cumulative effects upon the Resource Areas.

- 9.6 Due consideration shall be given to any demonstrated hardship on the applicant by reason of denial, as presented at the public hearing. The ConCom may waive specifically identified and requested procedures, design specifications, performance standards, or other requirements set forth in this By-Law or the rules and regulations promulgated hereunder, provided that:
 - 9.6.1 the ConCom finds in writing after said public hearing that there are no reasonable conditions or alternatives that would allow the proposed activity to proceed in compliance with said regulations;
 - 9.6.2 avoidance, minimization and mitigation have been employed to the maximum extent feasible; or
 - 9.6.3 the waiver is necessary to accommodate the public interest, or to avoid a decision that so restricts the use of the property as to constitute an unconstitutional taking without compensation.
- 9.7 In reviewing activities within a Resource Area Buffer Zone, the ConCom shall presume a Resource Area Buffer Zone is important to the protection of the Resource Area(s) because activities undertaken in the Resource Area Buffer Zone have a high likelihood of adverse impact upon the Resource Area(s), either immediately, as a consequence of the activities, or over time, as a consequence of daily operation or existence of the activities. Adverse impacts from such activities and use can include, without limitation, erosion, accretion, siltation, loss of groundwater recharge, degradation of water quality, excess nitrogen and phosphorous loading and loss of wildlife habitat.
- 9.8 In reviewing activities within the Riverfront Area, the ConCom shall presume the Riverfront Area is important to all the Resource Areas unless demonstrated otherwise, and no permit issued hereunder shall permit any activities unless the applicant, in addition to meeting the otherwise applicable requirements of this By-Law, has proved by a preponderance of credible evidence that:
 - 9.8.1 there is no practicable alternative to the proposed project with less adverse effects; and
 - 9.8.2 such activities, including proposed mitigation measures, will have no significant adverse impact on the areas or values protected by this By-Law.
- 9.9 The ConCom may authorize or require replication of wetlands as a form of mitigation, but only with specific plans, professional design, proper safeguards, adequate security, and professional monitoring and reporting to assure success, because of the high likelihood of failure of replication.
- 9.10 The ConCom may require a wildlife habitat study of a project area, to be paid for by the applicant, whenever it deems appropriate, regardless the type of Resource Area or the amount or type of alteration proposed. The decision shall be based upon the ConCom's estimation of the importance of the habitat area considering (but not limited to) such factors as proximity to other areas suitable for wildlife, importance of wildlife corridors in the area, or actual or possible presence of rare plant or animal species in the area. The work shall be performed by an individual who at least meets the qualifications set out in the wildlife habitat section of the Regulations.

- 9.11 The ConCom shall presume that vernal pools, including the adjacent area, perform essential habitat functions. This presumption may be overcome by the applicant only by a demonstration to the ConCom, by a preponderance of credible evidence, that the basin or depression does not provide essential habitat functions. Any formal evaluation should be performed by an individual who at least meets the qualifications under Section 10.60(1)(b) of the Regulations. [Amended 2014]
- 9.12 A permit, Determination of Applicability ("DOA"), or Order of Resource Area Delineation ("ORAD") shall expire three (3) years from the date of issuance. The ConCom may, however, in its discretion:
 - 9.12.1 issue a permit expiring five (5) years from the date of issuance for recurring or continuous maintenance work, provided that annual notification of time and location of work is given to the ConCom;
 - 9.12.2 allow the renewal of a permit once, for an additional one (1) year period, provided that a request for a renewal is received in writing by the ConCom not less than thirty (30) calendar days prior to expiration;
 - 9.12.3 identify permit requirements which shall be enforceable for a stated number of years, indefinitely, or until permanent protection is in place, and shall apply to all present and future owners of the land.
- 9.13 The ConCom may, for good cause, revoke any permit, DOA, or ORAD or any other order, determination or other decision issued under this By-Law after notice to the holder, the public, abutters and town boards, pursuant to Sections 7 and 8 hereof, and after a public hearing.
- 9.14 Amendments to permits, DOAs, or ORADs shall be handled in the manner set out in the Regulations and policies thereunder.
- 9.15 The ConCom in an appropriate case may combine the decision issued under this By-Law with the permit, DOA, ORAD, or COC issued under the Act and Regulations.
- 9.16 No work proposed in any NOI shall be undertaken until the permit, or ORAD issued by the ConCom with respect to such work, has been recorded in the Southern Essex District Registry of Deeds or, if the land affected is registered land, in the registry section of the land court for the district wherein the land lies, and until the holder of the permit certifies in writing to the ConCom that the document has been recorded. If the applicant fails to perform such recording, the ConCom may record the documents and require the Applicant to pay or reimburse the recording fee therefore, either at the time of recording or as a condition precedent to the issuance of a COC.

SECTION 10. Security

10.1 As part of a permit issued under this By-Law, and in addition to any security required by any other municipal or state board, agency or official, the ConCom may require that the

performance and observance of the conditions imposed thereunder (including conditions requiring mitigation work) be secured in whole, or in part, by one or both of, the:

- 10.1.1 posting of a proper bond, deposit of money or negotiable securities under a written third-party escrow arrangement, or other undertaking of financial responsibility sufficient in the opinion of the ConCom, to be released in whole or in part upon issuance of a COC for work performed pursuant to the permit; and/or
- 10.1.2 imposition and acceptance of a conservation restriction, easement, or other covenant enforceable in a court of law, executed and duly recorded by the owner of record, running with the land to the benefit of the Town, whereby the permit conditions shall be performed and observed before any parcel may be conveyed, other than by mortgage deed.
- The use of a conservation restriction, easement or other covenant described in Subsection 10.1.2 above shall only be used with the consent of the applicant.

SECTION 11. Enforcement

- No person shall alter a Resource Area, or cause, suffer, or allow such activity, or leave in 11.1 place unauthorized fill, or otherwise fail to restore illegally altered land to its original condition, or fail to comply with a permit or an enforcement order issued pursuant to this By-Law.
- The ConCom, its agents, officers, and employees shall have authority to enter upon privately owned land for the purpose of performing their duties under this By-Law and may make or cause to be made such examinations, surveys, or sampling as the ConCom deems necessary, subject to the constitutions and laws of the United States of America and the Commonwealth.
- 11.3 The ConCom shall have authority to enforce this By-Law, its rules and regulations, and permits issued thereunder by letters, phone calls, electronic communication and other informal methods, violation notices, non-criminal citations under M.G.L. Ch. 40 §21D, and civil and criminal court actions. Any person who violates provisions of this By-Law may be ordered to restore the property to its original condition and take other action deemed necessary to remedy such violations, or may be fined, or both.
- 11.4 Upon request of the ConCom, the Select Board and Town counsel may take legal action for enforcement under civil law. Upon request of the ConCom, the Chief of Police may take legal action for enforcement under criminal law.
- Town boards and officers, including any police officer or other officer having police powers, shall have authority to assist the ConCom in enforcement.
- Any person who violates any provision of this By-law or any rules and regulations promulgated hereunder, permits, or administrative orders issued thereunder, shall be punished by a fine of not more than three hundred dollars (\$300). Each day or portion thereof during which a

violation continues, or unauthorized activity or other alteration remains in place, shall constitute a separate offense, and each provision of the bylaw, regulations, permits, or administrative orders violated shall constitute a separate offense.

11.7 As an alternative to criminal prosecution in a specific case, the ConCom may request the issuance of citations with specific penalties pursuant to the non-criminal disposition procedure set forth in M.G.L. Ch. 40 §21D, which has been adopted by the Town in Article I, Section 4 of the General By-Laws.

SECTION 12. Burden of Proof

- 12.1 Except where a higher burden of proof is specified in this By-Law or any rules and regulations promulgated hereunder, the applicant shall have the burden of proving by a preponderance of credible evidence that the work proposed in the NOI will not have adverse effects, immediate or cumulative, upon the Resource Area.
- 12.2 Failure by the applicant to meet and satisfy the applicable burden of proof shall be sufficient cause for the ConCom to deny a NOI, permit or to impose conditions sufficient to prevent any adverse effects on the Resource Area.

SECTION 13. Appeals

A decision of the ConCom shall be reviewable in a court of competent jurisdiction in accordance with M.G.L. Ch. 249 §4.

SECTION 14. Relation to the Wetlands Protection Act

This By-Law is adopted under the Home Rule Amendment of the Constitution of the Commonwealth and the Home Rule statutes, independent of the Act and Regulations. It is the intention of this By-Law that the purposes, jurisdiction, authority, exemptions, regulations, specifications, standards, and other requirements shall be interpreted and administered as stricter than those under the Act and Regulations.

SECTION 15. Severability

The invalidity of any section or provision of this bylaw shall not invalidate any other section or provision thereof, nor shall it invalidate any permit, approval or determination which previously has previously been issued or take any other action relating thereto.

[Adopted 1987; Amended 1999, Amended (replaced in its entirety) 2010] [Amended 2014]

ARTICLE XVIII UNDERGROUND FUEL STORAGE

SECTION 1 Authority

This By-Law is adopted by the Town of Manchester under its home rule powers, its police powers to protect the public health and welfare, and its authorization under Massachusetts General Laws, Chapter 40, Section 21.

SECTION 2 Purpose

The purpose of this By-Law is to control the installation and maintenance of underground gasoline or fuel storage tanks over 1000 gallons, and to protect groundwater and surface water from contamination due to leakage. The provisions of this By-Law are applicable only to underground tanks.

SECTION 3 <u>Definitions</u>

- 3.1 Underground tank shall mean any fuel storage containment system for gasoline, fuel or lubricating oil with a capacity in excess of 1000 gallons, the top of which is located below the ground.
- 3.2 Fire Chief shall mean the chief of the fire department for the municipality in which a tank is located.
- 3.3 Noncorrosive soil is soil that, when tested by a qualified professional, is shown to have a resistivity greater than 10,000 ohm-cm, and that does not exhibit corrosive characteristics in a soil chemistry analysis.
- 3.4 100-year floodplain shall mean those areas as shown in the Flood Insurance Rate Maps for Town of Manchester under the Federal Emergency Management Agency's National Flood Insurance Program.

SECTION 4 Registration of Existing Tanks

- 4.1 Tank Registration. Every operator of an underground tank must file with the Town Clerk the size, type, age, contents, and location of their underground tanks within 90 days of the enactment of this By-Law.
- 4.2 Notification of Fire Department. The Town/City Clerk must forthwith, give the Fire Chief a copy of the information filed for each tank that is registered according to Section 4.1. The Fire Chief or his designee must check this information against fire department records. He may require evidence of the date of purchase and installation if there is any question concerning the age of the tank.
- 4.3 Tank Testing. Operators that are known to have underground fuel storage tanks that did not report their tank(s) as required by Section 4.1 of this By-

Law/Ordinance must have such tanks tested in accordance with Section 6.6 of this By-Law/Ordinance.

SECTION 5 Standards Applicable to the Installation of New Tanks

- A. Unless proven otherwise by soil tests performed by qualified professionals, the soils in Massachusetts shall be assumed to be corrosive. Metallic tanks (except stainless steel) without cathodic protection or an underground secondary-containment system will be prohibited. Also prohibited is schedule 40 steel pipe, galvanized or black iron, or approved nonmetallic (except fiberglass-reinforced plastic pipe). If a qualified professional demonstrates that the soils in which the tank is to be placed are non-corrosive as described in Section 3.3 of the definitions, a steel tank with interior coating and other approved piping may be installed.
 - B. In corrosive soils, underground tanks must be constructed of: non-corrodible materials, such as fiberglass-reinforced plastic (FRP) or its equivalent; steel with external bonded non-corrodible material (i.e., FRP); a steel system cathodically protected by an impressed current cathodic system, sacrificial anodes, or equivalent protection; or, double-walled tank. These requirements are in accordance with the Massachusetts Board of Fire Prevention regulations codified in 527 CMR 906 (18).
 - C. In corrosive soils, piping shall be constructed of non-corrodible materials such as FRP or its equivalent, a steel system with cathodic protection, or some other type of equivalent protection, in accordance with 527 CMR 9.06 (18).
 - D. Cathodic protection systems shall be maintained and checked in accordance with 527 CMR 9.06 (20) (g).
 - E. Commercial tanks must be equipped with striker plates below openings used for product measurement or filling.

5.2. Tank Installation

- A. The Fire Chief or his designee must inspect and approve underground tanks prior to their burial, in accordance with 527 CMR 9.06 (10).
- B. Tanks must be installed in accordance with the manufacturer's installation techniques. Damage to protective coatings or to the FRP tank or surface must be repaired prior to covering the tank.
- C. New underground tanks shall be tested for tightness, hydrostatically or with air pressure at not less than 3 pounds per square inch and not more than 5 pounds per square inch, after installation, but before being covered or placed in use in accordance with 527 CMR 9.06 (20) (b).

- D. Piping should be tested in accordance with 527 CMR 9.06 (20) (a) before being covered, enclosed, or placed in use.
- E. Backfill material, used to cover all new tank installations and repairs, must be of the type and quality specified by the tank manufacturer's installation procedures, and by the pertinent regulations governing storage tank installation.
- F. Underground tanks that are to be located in areas subject to flooding or below the maximum water table elevation must be anchored according to manufacturer's instructions.

5.3 Tank Location.

- A. Underground tanks may not be installed within the 100-year floodplain.
- B. Underground tanks that are to be installed within the watershed of a drinking-water reservoir, or within the cone of depression of a public well (or lacking a defined cone of depression, within 1000 feet of a public water supply well), must submit, for review by the Fire Chief, the Board of Health or its agent, and the local Water Commissioners or their agent, a plan outlining the procedures or devices, such as product sensors and/or area monitoring devices, to be used to prevent water supply contamination. The plan must be endorsed by representatives of the three departments noted above prior to tank installation.

SECTION 6 Leak Detection for Existing and New Tanks

- 6.1 Inventory Verification
 - A. All underground tanks, except fuel-oil tanks and tanks connected with burning equipment, must be monitored for the prevention and detection of leakage of flammable and combustible liquids in accordance with the provisions of 527 CMR 5.05 (3).
 - B. The daily-inventory records must be shown to the Fire Chief, or his designee, prior to issuance of a permit or license renewal.
 - C. The owner and operator must participate in a program of regularly scheduled inventory verification, at lease once every two years, in accordance with 527 CMR 5.05 (3) (g). The operator of tanks 10 years of age or older shall submit to the Fire Chief annually a report certifying that the inventory verification has been performed, stating the calculated gain/loss over the verification periods.
 - D. The Fire Chief shall require the operator of an underground tank storage system to test the system for tightness, at the operator's expense, when

accurate daily inventory records have not been maintained as specified in 6.1.

E. If daily inventory records indicate a loss of product in excess of 0.5 percent of the volume of product used or sold, or an abnormal increase in the amount of water contained in the tank, steps must be taken immediately in accordance with 527 CMR 5.05 (3) (e) to detect and stop the leak. The discrepancy must be reported to the Fire Chief.

6.2 Tank Testing.

A. Unless the tank operator demonstrates to the Fire Chief and the Board of Health that his tank(s) are constructed of a material that will not corrode, has product sensors, or has been repaired or tested within the last year, underground tanks shall be required, at the expense of the owner, to undergo one of the following tests at five-year intervals from the date of installation, up to the twentieth year, and annually thereafter: A Kent-Moore (Heath Petrotite) test; or a Sun-Mark leak-locator test; or the equivalent as determined by the Fire Chief. The Fire Chief shall be given at least 48 hours notice of time, date, and place of testing. Test results must be submitted to the local Fire Chief.

- B. The waiver from 6.2 (a) may not be granted for a tank that is located within any of the areas specified in Section 5.3 (b).
- C. If flammable fluids or their vapors have been detected in neighboring structures, sewers, or wells on or off the property locations, the Fire Chief may require that any nearby tank, including underground residential tanks less than 1000 gallons, be tested at the expense of each tank's owner.

Procedure in Case of Spill or Leak SECTION 7

7.1 Leak Reporting

> Any person who is aware of a spill or abnormal loss of flammable fluids must report such spill or loss immediately to the Fire Chief. The Fire Chief must be responsible for other notification, including the Board of Health.

7.2 Equipment Replacement/Removal

A. After a leak is confirmed, underground tanks (or piping) must be emptied immediately, and removed or repaired forthwith, under the direction of the Fire Chief.

B. A leaking tank that is twenty years old or older that does not comply with the design standards in Section 5.1 (b) must be removed and may not be repaired. A permit for its removal must be obtained in accordance with M.G.L. Chapter 48, Section 38A.

Manchester-by-the-Sea General By-Law - Page 85 - Updated March 2025

- C. A leaking tank that is less than twenty years old must be repaired or removed. If the tank operator can show to the satisfaction of the Fire Chief that (in the case of steel tanks) the leak was from internal corrosion, and that the tank can be repaired so as not to pose a continuing threat to the soils and waters of the Commonwealth, considering at a minimum the corrosivity of the soil: tank age and external condition; techniques to be used for the repair; and the location of the tank, then the tank may be repaired. Operators of leaking FRP tanks must demonstrate to the Fire Chief that the tank can be repaired according to manufacturer's instructions. Operators who do not meet these requirements must remove the tank.
- D. If it is necessary to replace an underground steel tank that has developed a corrosion-induced leak, all other steel tanks at the facility of the same age or older, whether they are leaking or not, shall be repaired or replace with tanks that meet the requirements of Section 5.1 of this By-Law.

Administration. SECTION 8

- 8.1 The provisions of this By-Law shall be administered by the Fire Chief.
- 8.2 Variances from the specific requirements of this By-Law/Ordinance may be authorized by the chief licensing authority after notice and a public hearing.
- 8.3 Licenses issued in accordance with M.G.L. Chapter 148 Section 13 for underground tanks must be renewed at five-year intervals from the date of installation, up to the twentieth year, and annually thereafter. Tank owners must submit to the Fire Chief and the licensing authority a statement certifying satisfactory leak-detection results over the period of the permit (in accordance with Section 6.2 of this By-Law), and inventory verification, at least 30 days before the issuance of a permit renewal for the time periods Test results must accompany the permit-renewal specified herein. application.
- 8.4 Fees necessary for the issuance and renewal of permits or licenses shall be set by the Select Board.
- 8.5 The Fire Chief or his designee may, at all reasonable times, and upon reasonable notice to the occupant of the premises, enter any premises, public or private, for the purpose of investigating, sampling, or inspecting any record, condition, equipment, practice, or property relating to activities subject to this By-Law/Ordinance, and may at any time and upon reasonable notice to the occupant of the premises enter such premises for the purpose of protecting the public health or safety, or to prevent damage to the environment. [Adopted 1984]

ARTICLE XIX COUNCIL ON AGING

- SECTION 1 There is hereby established a Council on Aging consisting of from seven to eleven citizens of this town, appointed by the Select Board for terms not to exceed four years for any member. Said terms shall be staggered so that not more than three appointments shall be made in any calendar year. Members can be re-appointed for concurrent terms.
- SECTION 2 The duties of said Council on Aging shall be to:
 - (1) identify the total needs of the community's elderly population;
 - (2) educate the community and enlist the support and participation of all citizens concerning these needs;
 - (3) design, promote, or implement services to fill these needs, or coordinate present existing services in the community;
 - (4) promote and support any other programs which are designed to assist elderly programs in the community.
- SECTION 3 Said Council on Aging shall cooperate with the Commonwealth of Massachusetts Office of Elder Affairs and shall be cognizant of all state and federal legislation concerning funding, information exchange, and program planning which exists for better community programming for the elderly.
- SECTION 4 Said Council on Aging shall give an annual report to the Select Board with a copy of that report directed to the Commonwealth of Massachusetts Office of Elder Affairs.
- SECTION 5 The By-Laws of said Council shall be drawn by them and presented to the Select Board for their approval. [Adopted 1984]

ARTICLE XX COMMUNITY PRESERVATION COMMITTEE BYLAW

- A. The Town of Manchester-by-the-Sea shall have a Community Preservation Committee to perform the duties as required in the Community Preservation Act, Massachusetts General Laws, Chapter 44B. The Committee shall evaluate the community preservation needs of the Town and develop a community preservation program and financial plan for the Town. The program shall identify short-term and long-term goals, set criteria for evaluating proposed acquisitions and initiatives, prioritize projects and estimate their costs. The financial plan shall include a multi-year revenue and expenditure forecast and identify the fund or other municipal financing source for each proposed project. The program and financial plan shall be reviewed and updated annually.
- B. The Committee shall make recommendations annually to the Town Meeting for the acquisition, creation, and preservation of open space, for the acquisition, creation, and preservation of land for recreational use, for the acquisition and preservation of historic resources, for the creation, preservation, and support of community housing, and for the rehabilitation or restoration of such open space, land for recreational use, historic resources, and community housing that is acquired or created as provided in the Community Preservation Act. With respect to community housing, the Community Preservation Committee shall recommend, wherever possible, the reuse of existing buildings or construction of new buildings on previously developed sites. Before making its recommendations to the Town Meeting, the Committee shall consult with the Select Board, Conservation Commission, Planning Board, Housing Authority, Finance Committee, other municipal boards as needed, representatives for historic resources, representatives for parks and recreation, and citizens.
- C. Commission as designated by the Commission, one member of the Planning Board as designated by the Board, one member of the Housing Authority as designated by the Authority, one representative for municipal finances as designated by the Finance Committee, one member of the Historic District Commission acting under its authority as the Historical Commission as designated by the Commission, one representative for parks and recreation as designated by the Select Board, and three at-large representatives as designated by the Select Board. The terms of the Committee members shall be three years.
- D. The Committee shall not meet or conduct business without the presence of a quorum. A majority of the members of the committee shall constitute a quorum. The committee shall abide by the Open Meeting Law of Massachusetts.
- E. The Committee shall hold one or more public informational hearings annually regarding community preservation. The hearing notice shall be posted publicly and published for each of two weeks preceding the hearing in a newspaper of general circulation in the town.
- F. Minutes of meetings shall be taken. Copies shall be provided to the Town Clerk.

G. This by-law shall not become effective unless the Town accepts the Community Preservation Act under Massachusetts General Laws, Chapter 44B. [Added 2005]	

ARTICLE XXI AFFORDABLE HOUSING TRUST FUND

Section 1 Affordable Housing Trust

There shall be a Manchester-by-the-Sea Affordable Housing Trust, the purpose of which shall be the acquisition, creation, preservation, rehabilitation and support of affordable housing in the Town of Manchester-by-the-Sea for the benefit of low and moderate income households. The Trust shall be governed by Trustees in accordance with Massachusetts General Laws Chapter 44, Section 55C and the authority granted by Town Meeting, as revised from time to time. [Amended October 2017]

Section 2 Name of the Trust

This trust shall be called the "Manchester-by-the-Sea Affordable Housing Trust", herein referred to as the Trust.

Section 3 **Purposes**

The purpose of this Trust shall be the acquisition, creation, preservation, rehabilitation and support of affordable housing in the Town of Manchester-bythe Sea for the benefit of low and moderate income households and in furtherance of this purpose, to acquire by gift, purchase, or otherwise real estate and personal property, both tangible and intangible, of every sort and description; to use such property, both real and personal, in such manner as the Trustees shall deem most appropriate to carry out such purpose, provided however, that all property comprising this Trust and the net earnings thereof shall be used only in the Town exclusively for the benefit of all of the inhabitants of the Town of Manchester-bythe-Sea for the creation and preservation of affordable housing for which this Trust was formed and no part of the activities of the Trust shall consist of propaganda or otherwise attempting to influence legislation or participation in or intervention in (including the publication or distribution of statements) any political campaign on behalf of any candidate for public office and no part of the net earnings of this Trust shall inure or be payable to or for the benefit of any private individual or corporation. [Amended October 2017]

Section 4 **Board of Trustees**

There shall be a Board of Trustees (the "Board") consisting of seven (7) Trustees who shall be appointed by the Select Board (5 members) and the Town Moderator (2 members). The members of the Board shall be comprised of as follows:

- one (1) member of the Select Board, or its designee;
- one (1) member of the Community Preservation Committee or its designee;
- one (1) member of the Manchester Housing Authority or its designee;
- one (1) member of the Planning Board or its designee;
- one (1) member of the Finance Committee or its designee; and
- two (2) citizens at large selected by the Town Moderator

Tenure of Trustees Section 5

The Trustees hereunder shall be appointed by the Select Board or Town Moderator. Only persons who are residents of the Town shall be eligible to hold the office of Trustee. Trustees shall serve for a term not to exceed two years and

may be re-appointed at the discretion of the Select Board or Town Moderator, as applicable. Any Trustee who ceases to be a resident of the Town shall cease to be a Trustee hereunder provided that a written notification of the change in residence has been filed with the Town Clerk. Any Trustee may resign by written instrument signed and acknowledged by such Trustee and duly filed with the Town Clerk. If a Trustee shall die, resign, or for any other reason cease to be a Trustee hereunder before his/her term of office expires, a successor shall be appointed by a joint meeting of the appointing authority and the remaining Trustees to fill such vacancy provided that in each case the said appointment and acceptance in writing by the Trustee so appointed is filed with the Town Clerk. Upon the appointment or election of any succeeding Trustee and the filing of such appointment or a certificate of such election the title to the Trust estate shall thereupon and without the necessity of any conveyance be vested in such succeeding Trustee jointly with the remaining Trustees. Reference to the Trustee shall mean the Trustee or Trustees for the time being hereunder. Of the original Trustees, four shall hold office until July 1, 2017 and three shall hold office until July 1, 2018. [Amended June 2020]

Section 6 Meetings of the Trust

Meetings of the Trust shall be held not less than quarterly and at all other times deemed advisable at such time and at such place as the Trustees shall determine. A written notice stating the place, day, hour and agenda of each Meeting of the Trust shall be posted at Town Hall at least two (2 business days before the date of such meeting. A quorum at any meeting shall be a majority of the Trustees qualified. Meetings may be scheduled as needed in conformance with the requirements of the Massachusetts open meeting laws.

Section 7 Powers of Trustees

The Trustees, for the carrying out of the above purposes and except has herein otherwise specifically provided, shall have the same powers with respect to all real and personal estate at any time held by them as if they were the absolute owners thereof, and without limiting the foregoing generality:

- a) to solicit and accept grants, gifts, devises and bequests or otherwise acquire real or personal property;
- b) to invest any of the trust property in such manner as they may deem advisable without being limited as to the kind or amount of any investment:
- to sell and exchange any real or personal property or any interest therein for such consideration and upon such terms and conditions as they deem advisable;
- d) to join with others in the acquisition of real property or any interest therein;
- e) to borrow money and mortgage or pledge any part of the trust estate assets and issue notes or other indebtedness;

Manchaster by the San Canaral By Lavy Dage 01 Undeted March 2025

- f) to join with others in borrowings, mortgages and pledges and to guarantee and become surety on obligations of others, in transactions in which the Trust has an interest;
- g) to execute, as lessor or lessee, leases;
- h) to restore, construct, repair and maintain buildings and other improvements and establish such reserves as they deem necessary therefore;
- i) to pay, compromise or adjust all obligations incurred and rights acquired in the administration of the Trust;
- j) to obtain advice of counsel and to rely thereon;
- k) to employ such other persons, agents, brokers, managers, accountants, or advisors as they may deem advisable;
- and to execute, acknowledge and deliver all such contracts, deeds, mortgages, leases, discharges, and partial releases of mortgages, or other instruments as they may deem advisable in the course of the administration of the Trust.

The Trustees shall refrain from exercising any powers in such manner as to violate the provisions of said Chapter 44, Section 55C.

Section 8

Limitations on the Powers of Trustees

These powers shall be subject to the following limitations:

- a) any purchase, sale, lease, exchange, transfer, or conveyance of any interest in real property must be approved by five of the seven voting members.
- b) the Trustees may incur debt, borrow money, grant mortgages, and pledge Trust assets only in an amount not to exceed 80% of the Trust's total assets.
- c) no debt incurred by the Trustees shall constitute a pledge of the full faith and credit of the Town of Manchester-by-the-Sea and all documents related to any debt shall contain a statement that the holder of any such debt shall have no recourse against the Town of Manchester-by-the-Sea with an acknowledgement of said statement by the holder.

Section 9 Acts of Trustees

A majority of Trustees may exercise any or all of the powers of the Trustees hereunder and may execute on behalf of the Trustees any and all instruments with the same effect as though executed by all the Trustees. The Trustees may, by instrument executed by all the Trustees, delegate to any attorney, agent or employee such other powers and duties as they deem advisable, including power to execute, acknowledged or deliver instruments as fully as the Trustees might themselves and to sign and endorse checks for the account of the Trustees of the Trust. The Trustees shall not delegate the authority to amend or terminate the Trust and no such delegation shall be effective. No Trustee shall be required to

N. 1 . 1 . 1 . 0 . C . 1 D . 1 . D . 00 . II 1 . 1 N. 1 . 0007

give bond. No license of court shall be required to confirm the validity of any transaction entered into by the Trustees with respect to the Trust Estate. No one dealing with the Trustees need inquire concerning the validity of anything the Trustees purport to do or see to the application of anything paid to or upon the order of the Trustees. No Trustee shall be liable for the acts, negligence or defaults of any other Trustee or any employee, agent, or representative of the Trustees selected with reasonable care, nor for errors in judgment, nor mistakes of law or fact made in good faith nor in reliance in good faith on advice of counsel not for other acts or omissions in good faith.

Section 10 <u>Liability</u>

Neither the Trustees nor any agent or officer of the Trust shall have the authority to bind the Town of Manchester-by-the-Sea. The Trust is a public employer and the Trustees are public employees for the purposes of G. L. Chapter 258. The Trust shall be deemed a municipal agency and the Trustees special municipal employees for the purposes of Chapter 268A.

Section 11 <u>Amendments</u>

This Declaration of Trust may be amended from time to time except as to those provisions specifically required under G. L. Chapter 44 Section 55C and Manchester-by-the-Sea By-laws, by an instrument in writing signed by all of the Trustees and approved at a meeting called for that purpose, provided that in each case, a certificate of amendment has been recorded with the Registry of Deeds and filed with the Land Registration Office.

Section 12 Accounts

The Town Treasurer shall be responsible for:

- a) the preparation, maintenance and fair presentation of the books and records of the Trust in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; which includes the design, implementation and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. And
- b) to have these Trust accounts and statements audited annually by an independent auditor in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in *Governmental Auditing Standards* issued by the Comptroller General of the United States of America together with the auditor's Opinions and Management Letter.

Nothing herein shall be deemed to limit the Trustees' authorities, powers and duties as otherwise set forth in this Bylaw and any applicable state or federal law. The Trust may utilize the services of Town staff, consultants, employees, and/or officials, upon such terms and conditions as mutually agreeable between the Town and Trust, to effectuate the purposes of the Trust. [Added October 2017]

Section 13 Duration of the Trust

This Trust shall be of indefinite duration. However, it may be terminated by a vote of Town Meeting in accordance with Chapter 4, Section 4 provided that an instrument of termination, together with a certified copy of the Town Meeting vote, are duly recorded with the Registry of Deeds and the Land Registration Office.

Upon termination of the Trust, subject to the payment of or making provision for the payment of all obligations and liabilities of the Trust and the Trustees, the net assets of the Trust shall be transferred to the Town of Manchester-by-the-Sea and held by the Select Board for affordable housing purposes. In making any such distribution, the Trustees may sell all or any portion of the Trust property and distribute the net proceeds thereof or they may distribute any of the assets in kind. The powers of the Trustees shall continue until the affairs of the Trust are concluded.

Section 14

Authority shown by Record to be Conclusive; Certificate as to Facts Every contract, deed, mortgage, lease and other instrument executed by a majority of the Trustees as appears from instruments or certificates recorded with said Registry of Deeds and Land Registration Office to be Trustees hereunder shall be conclusive evidence in favor of any person relying thereon or claiming thereunder, that at the time of the delivery thereof this Trust was in full force and effect and that the execution and delivery of such instrument was duly authorized by the Trustees except that delegations of authority pursuant to Section 9 hereof and instruments of amendment pursuant to Section 10 and an instrument of termination pursuant to Section 12 hereof shall be conclusive only if it appears that the delegations, amendments or termination have been executed by all of the Trustees. Any person dealing with the Trust property or the Trustees may always rely on a certificate signed by any person appearing from instruments or certificates so recorded to be a Trustee hereunder as to the identity of the then current Trustees or as to the existence or non-existence of any fact or facts which constitute conditions precedent to acts by the Trustees or in any other manner germane to the affairs of the Trust.

Section 15 Titles

The titles to the various Sections herein are for convenience only and are not to be considered part of said Sections nor shall they affect the meaning or the language of any such Section. [Added 2016]

ARTICLE XXII STORAGE OF COMMERCIAL MATERIALS AND VEHICLES

The Building Inspector shall allow the following, provide that they are not visible from the public way and do not create a nuisance:

- The commercial storage of building and landscaping materials and equipment, excluding that from retail establishments;
- Commercial landscaping equipment, materials, supplies;
- Unless garaged on the premises, the overnight parking of commercial vehicles owned or operated by a resident of the premises limited to one commercial vehicle less than 10,000 pounds of gross vehicle weight
- Storage of recreational vehicles, boats, and trailers within five (5) feet from the property line. (Special Town Meeting 11.14.2022 Article 5. Attorney General Approved 2.16.2023)

ARTICLE XXIII STORMWATER MANAGEMENT

SECTION 1 PURPOSE AND INTENT

The purpose and intent of this bylaw are to:

- A. Protect water resources;
- B. Require practices that mitigate soil erosion and sedimentation and control the volume and rate of stormwater runoff resulting from land disturbance activities;
- C. Promote infiltration and the recharge of groundwater;
- D. Ensure that soil erosion and sedimentation control measures and stormwater runoff control practices are incorporated into the site planning and design process, and are implemented and maintained;
- E. Encourage the use of Low-Impact Development practices such as reducing impervious cover and the preservation of green space and other natural areas, to the maximum extent practicable;
- F. Comply with state and federal statutes and regulations relating to stormwater discharges;
- G. Establish the Town of Manchester-by-the-Sea as the legal authority to ensure compliance with the provisions of this bylaw through inspection, monitoring, and enforcement.

SECTION 2 DEFINITIONS

ADMINISTRATIVE LAND DISTURBANCE APPROVAL: A determination by the Permit Authority that land disturbance activity does not require a Stormwater Management Permit. APPLICANT: Any person, individual, partnership, association, firm, company, corporation, trust, authority, agency, department, or political subdivision, of the Commonwealth or the Federal government to the extent permitted by law requesting a Stormwater Management Permit and/or Administrative Land Disturbance Review for proposed land-disturbance activity. LAND-DISTURBING ACTIVITY: Any activity that causes a change in the position or location of soil, sand, rock, gravel, or similar earth material, including tree cutting, grubbing, clearing, grading or excavation.

MUNICIPAL SEPARATE STORM SEWER SYSTEM (MS4) or MUNICIPAL STORM DRAIN SYSTEM: The system of conveyances designed or used for collecting or conveying stormwater, including any road with a drainage system, street, gutter, curb, inlet, piped storm

drain, pumping facility, retention or detention basin, natural or man-made or altered drainage channel, reservoir, and other drainage structure that together comprise the storm drainage system owned or operated by Manchester-by-the-Sea.

PERMIT AUTHORITY: The Department of Public Works.

PERSON: An individual, partnership, association, firm, company, trust, corporation, agency, authority, department or political subdivision of the Commonwealth or the federal government, to the extent permitted by law, and any officer, employee, or agent of such person. Stormwater Management Permit ("SMP" and/or "Permit"): A permit issued by the Permit Authority, after review of an application, plans, calculations, and other supporting documents, which shows that the proposed project is designed to protect the environment of the Town from the deleterious effects of uncontrolled and untreated stormwater runoff.

SECTION 3 AUTHORITY

- A. This bylaw is adopted under authority granted by the Home Rule Amendment of the Massachusetts Constitution, the Home Rule statutes, and pursuant to the regulations of the federal Clean Water Act found at 40 CFR §22.34
- B. Nothing in this bylaw is intended to replace the requirements of any other bylaw that has been made or may be adopted by the Town of Manchester-by-the-Sea.

SECTION 4 APPLICABILITY

- A. This bylaw shall apply to all activities that result in land disturbance exceeding the threshold established in the regulations promulgated hereunder.
- B. Administrative Land Disturbance Review is required for projects that result in the amount of land disturbance described in the regulations promulgated hereunder.
- C. Exempt Activities the regulations promulgated hereunder shall identify certain exempt land disturbance activities.

SECTION 5 PERMITS AND PROCEDURES

- A. The procedures for a Stormwater Management Permit and/or Administrative Land Disturbance Review application shall be described in detail in the regulations promulgated hereunder.
- B. Waivers.
 - 1. The Permit Authority may waive strict compliance with any requirement of this bylaw or the regulations adopted hereunder, where:
 - a. Such action is allowed by federal, state, and local statutes and/or regulations;
 - b. It is in the public interest; and
 - c. It is not inconsistent with the purpose and intent of this bylaw.
 - 2. Any Applicant may submit a written request to be granted such a waiver. Such a request shall be accompanied by an explanation or documentation supporting the waiver request and demonstrating that strict application of the bylaw does not further the purpose or objectives of this bylaw.
- C. Appeals. A decision of the Permit Authority shall be final. Further relief of a decision by the Permit Authority made under this bylaw shall be reviewable in the Superior Court in an action filed within 60 days of the final action taken by the Permit Authority, in accordance with M.G.L. c. 249, §4.

SECTION 6 FINAL REPORT

Upon completion of the work, the Applicant shall submit a report (including certified as-built construction plans) from a Registered Professional Engineer (P.E.), certifying that all erosion and sediment control devices, and approved changes and modifications, have been completed in accordance with the conditions of the approved permit. Any discrepancies should be noted in the cover letter.

SECTION 7 CERTIFICATE OF COMPLETION

The Permit Authority will issue a letter certifying completion upon receipt and approval of the Final Report and/or upon otherwise determining that all work allowed by the permit has been satisfactorily completed in conformance with the permit and this bylaw.

SECTION 8 EMPLOYMENT OF OUTSIDE CONSULTANTS

The Permit Authority may employ outside consultants, at the Applicant's expense to assist in its permit decision, including but not limited to plan review, drainage, and stormwater analysis; to determine conformance with this bylaw and other requirements; and for construction inspection. SECTION 9 PERFORMANCE GUARANTEE

- A. The Permit Authority may require the Applicant to post, before the start of land disturbance activity, a surety bond, irrevocable letter of credit, cash, or other acceptable security as performance guarantee, to be in an amount deemed sufficient by the Permit Authority to ensure that the work will be completed in accordance with the permit. If the project is phased, the Permit Authority may release part of the bond as each phase is completed in compliance with the permit but the bond may not be fully released until the Permit Authority has received the Final Report as required by Section 6 of this bylaw and issued a Certificate of Completion.
- B. The regulations promulgated hereunder shall establish reasonable criteria for assessing the Performance Guarantee.

SECTION 10 DURATION OF STORMWATER MANAGEMENT PERMIT

A Stormwater Management Permit is granted for a period of three years from the date of its approval and shall lapse if substantial use or construction has not commenced by such date, except for good cause as shown.

SECTION 11 ENFORCEMENT

- A. Land disturbance activities in excess of the thresholds established in the regulations promulgated hereunder conducted without a Stormwater Management Permit or Administrative Land Disturbance Approval shall constitute a violation of this bylaw. The Permit Authority, or an authorized agent of the Permit Authority, shall enforce this bylaw, regulations, orders, violation notices, and enforcement orders, and may pursue all civil and criminal remedies for such violations.
- B. Non-Criminal Disposition. As an alternative to criminal prosecution or civil action, the Town may elect to utilize the non-criminal disposition procedure set forth in M.G.L. c. 40, §21D and General Bylaw Article 1, Section 4, in which case the Permit Authority or its agent shall be the enforcing person. The penalty for the 1st violation shall be \$100.00. The penalty for the 2nd violation shall be \$200.00. The penalty for the 3rd and subsequent violations shall be \$300.00. Each day or part thereof that such violation occurs or continues shall constitute a separate offense.

SECTION 12 REGULATIONS

The Permit Authority shall adopt, and may periodically amend regulations, rules and/or written guidance relating to the terms, conditions, definitions, enforcement, fees, procedures, and administration of this Bylaw by majority vote of the Town of Manchester-by-the-Sea Select Board after conducting a duly noticed public hearing to receive comments pursuant to the Town's public notice requirements. Failure of the Permit Authority to issue such rules, or regulations, or a legal declaration of their invalidity by a court, shall not act to suspend or invalidate the effect of this Bylaw.

Stormwater Management Regulations (Regulations), rules, or guidance shall identify requirements for stormwater permits or approvals required by this Bylaw and be consistent with or more stringent than the relevant requirements of the most recent MS4 General Permit. SECTION 13 SEVERABILITY

If any provision, paragraph, sentence, or clause of this bylaw shall be held invalid for any reason, all other provisions shall continue in full force and effect.

(Special Town Meeting 11.18.2024 Article 4. Attorney General Approved 3.5.2025)

AN ACT REQUIRING THAT CERTAIN MEASURES IN THE TOWN OF MANCHESTER-BY-THE-SEA BE APPROVED AT A TOWN ELECTION

SECTION 1 Notwithstanding any general or special law to the contrary, in the Town of Manchester-by-the-Sea, no incurrence of indebtedness or other action that the Town's general by-law, as from time to time in effect, provides should be authorized pursuant to this Act, and no other action that a town meeting determines should be so authorized, shall be valid unless (i) with respect to such indebtedness or other action specified in the general by-law, the town meeting determines by majority vote that the incurrence of the indebtedness or the other action shall be submitted to the voters as a ballot question at a town election, and (ii) the ballot question as to such incurrence or as to the other action that is specified in the general by-law or that a town meeting has determined should be authorized pursuant to this Act is approved by a quantum of vote sufficient to authorize it at a town meeting. The election at which voters act on the question by ballot may be the annual election or a special election which the Select Board Member shall promptly call, held in either case not less than thirty and not more than sixty days after the dissolution of the meeting.

The question submitted to voters as a ballot question shall appear on the ballot in the following form: "Do you approve of the measure summarized below?" A fair, concise summary of the measure, as determined by the town counsel, shall follow. The polls at such election shall be open as required by section sixty-four of the General Laws for the election of town officers, and all other provisions of the General Laws pertaining to town elections shall apply. No quorum shall be required in voting on any ballot questions under this act.

SECTION 2 This act shall take effect upon its passage. [Enacted 1991]

APPENDIX

1995: Added Article III, Section 2(h).

Approved by the April 3, 1995 Annual Town Meeting Approved by the Attorney General on May 23, 1995

1996: Amended Article II, Section 3

Approved by the November 13, 1995 Special Town Meeting Approved by the Attorney General on December 1, 1995

Added Article VIII, Section 4

Approved by the November 13, 1995 Special Town Meeting Approved by the Attorney General on December 1, 1995

1997: Amended Article X Section 20(a) and (b)

Approved by the April 7, 1997 Annual Town Meeting Approved by the Attorney General July 11, 1997

Added Article X, Section 34

Approved by the April 7, 1997 Annual Town Meeting Approved by the Attorney General on July 11, 1997

Added Article X, Section 36

Approved by the April 7, 1997 Annual Town Meeting Approved by the Attorney General July 11, 1997

Amended Article II, Section 14(a)

Approved by the April 7, 1997 Annual Town Meeting Approved by the Attorney General on July 11, 1997

Added Article X, Section 35 (1) and (2)

Approved by the April 7, 1997 Annual Town Meeting Approved by the Attorney General on September 7, 1998

Amended Article X, Section 35

Approved by the November 17, 1997 Special Town Meeting Approved by the Attorney General on January 28, 1998

1998: Added Article II, Section 19

Approved by the April 6, 1998 Annual Town Meeting Approved by the Attorney General on June 8, 1998

Added Article X, Section 28(c)9

Approved by the April 6, 1998 Annual Town Meeting Approved by the Attorney General on June 8, 1998

1998: Amended Article X, Section 28(g)3
Approved by the April 6, 1998 Annual Town Meeting
Approved by the Attorney General on June 8, 1998

Amended Article X, Section 28(h) Approved by the April 6, 1998 Annual Town Meeting Approved by the Attorney General on June 8, 1998

Amended Article X, Section 28(c)3 Approved by the April 6, 1998 Annual Town Meeting Approved by the Attorney General on June 8, 1998

Added Article X, Section 33(4) Approved by the April 7, 1998 Annual Town Meeting Approved by the Attorney General on June 8, 1998

Added Article X, Section 37 Approved by the April 6, 1998 Annual Town Meeting Approved by the Attorney General on June 8, 1998

1999: Adopted Article X, Section 38
Approved by the April 5, 1999 Annual Town Meeting
Approved by the Attorney General on April 14, 1999

Amended Article XVII, Section 2.1 Approved by the April 5, 1999 Annual Town Meeting Approved by the Attorney General on April 14, 1999

2000 Amended Article X, by deleting Section 15A Approved by the April 3, 2000 Annual Town Meeting Approved by the Attorney General on June 16, 2000

> Amended Article X, Section 33 Approved by the April 3, 2000 Annual Town Meeting Approved by the Attorney General on June 16, 2000

Amended Article IV, by adding Section 10
Approved by the April 2, 2001 Annual Town Meeting
Approved by the Attorney General July 19, 2001
Amended Article XII, Earth Removal
Approved by the April 2, 2001 Annual Town Meeting
Approved by the Attorney General July 19, 2001

2002 Amended Article 1, Section 4(b) Enforcement Approved by the April 1, 2002 Annual Town Meeting Approved by the Attorney General July 8, 2002 Amended Article XIII, Personnel Bylaw Approved by the April 1, 2002 Town Meeting Approval of Attorney General not required for Personnel By-laws 2003 Amended Article II, Section 2, Date of Annual Election Approved by the April 7, 2003 Town Meeting Approved by the Attorney General June 10, 2003 Amended Article 1, Section 4, Item 4-Accessible Parking By-law Approved by the April 7, 2003 Town Meeting Approved by the Attorney General June 10, 2003 2004 Amended Article II, Section 5, Town Meeting Quorum Requirement Approved by the April 7, 2004 Town Meeting Approved by the Attorney General April 26, 2004 2005 Amended Article X, Section 1 and Article 1, Section 4, Printed Matter Vending Machines Approved by the April 4, 2005 Town Meeting Approved by the Attorney General May 19, 2005 Adopted Article XX, Community Preservation Committee By-law Approved by the April 4, 2005 Town Meeting Approved by the Attorney General June 10, 2005 Amended Article XV, Section 14(a) Counting Votes at Town Meeting 2006 Amended Article XII, Section 5(d) Restoration After Excavation 2007 Amended Article XII, Section 2, Exemptions 2009 Amended Article X, Section 33, House Numbering Fine Amended Article XX, Section (c), Community Preservation Committee membership Approved by the Attorney General April 23, 2009 Amended Article XIV, Section A1, Resident Parking, Permission to Park Passenger 2010 Vehicles on Certain Streets Approved by Town Meeting, April 5, 2010 Approved by Attorney General July 6, 2010 Amended Article XVII, General Wetlands By-Law, Replaces Previous Article XVII in its **Entirety** Approved by the April 5, 2010 Town Meeting

Approved by the Attorney General May 24, 2010

2011 Amended Article III, Section 7, Harbormaster

Amended Article IX, Section 3, Records and Reports

Amended Article X, Section 28 (C) (3) Police and Other Regulations

Approved by Town Meeting, April 4, 2011

Approved by Attorney General July 26, 2011

2012 Amended Article II by adding Section 20, Town Meeting

Amended Article X by adding Section 39, Snow Emergency Parking Ban

Approved by Town Meeting on April 2, 2012

Approved by Attorney General June 6, 2012

2013 Amended Article IX, Section 3, Records and Reports

Amended Article X by adding Section 40, Denial or Revocation of Permit for Non-Payment of Taxes or Fees

Approved by Town Meeting on April 1, 2013

Approved by Attorney General on May 2, 2013

Amended Article I, Section 4B1, General Wetlands By-law, Fine allowed, Enforcement Agent, Fine Schedule

Amended Article II, Section 18, Town Meetings

Amended Article X by adding Section 41, Stretch Energy Code

Amended Article X, Section 28, B1, Animal Control Board membership

Amended Article X, Section 28, C3, Control of Animals

Approved by Town Meeting on April 2, 2013

Approved by Attorney General on May 2, 2013

Amended Article X by adding Section 42, Plastic Bag Reduction

Approved by Town Meeting on April 2, 2013

Approved by Attorney General on July 24, 2013

2014 Amended Article XVII, Section 4.4.3, Section 5.1, and Section 7.1 General Wetlands By-Law

Amended Article X, Section 39A and Section 39C Snow Emergency Parking Ban

Approved by Town Meeting on April 7, 2014

Approved by the Attorney General on May 16, 2014

2015 Amended Article X, Section 28, Replaces Previous Section 28 in its Entirety

Amended Article X, Section 29, Replaces Previous Section 29 in its Entirety

Approved by Town Meeting on April 6, 2015

Approved by the Attorney General on August 31, 2015

2016 Adopted Article XXI, Affordable Housing Trust Fund

Amended Article X by Adding Section 20C Short Term Paying Guest in Homes

Approved by Town Meeting April 4, 2016

Approved by the Attorney General on July 8, 2016

2017 Adopted Article IV, Section 11: Revolving Funds

Amended Article II by deleting Section 12 and renumbering all the following sections to be consistent with this deletion and sequential.

Amended Article II, Section 15: Regarding motion for reconsideration and renumbered as section 14

Adopted Article VIII, Section 5: Sewer Betterment Assessments

Approved by Town Meeting April 3, 2017

Approved by the Attorney General on May 22, 2017

Amended Article IV, Section 4 by deleting the specific dollar amount and replacing with the statutory reference for threshold for disposal of surplus municipal property.

Amended Article X by adding a new Section 43 "Construction Site Activity."

Amend Section 30A of Article X to include Beach St east of Tappan St as no parking zones.

Amend Sections 1, 3 and 12 of Article XXI, Affordable Housing Trust, to include

"acquisition, rehabilitation and support" under list of purposes and caveat of nothing shall limit the authority, powers and duties of the Trust.

Approved by Town Meeting October 16, 2017

Approved by the Attorney General on February 9, 2018

Amended Article VI, "Finance Committee" to reduce membership from 9 to 7.

Amended Article X, "Police and other Regulations," Section 39, "Snow Emergency Parking Ban," subsection C, to enforce violations under MGL Ch. 90 S. 20A rather than MGL Ch. 40 S. 21D.

Approved by Town Meeting October 15, 2018

Approved by the Attorney General on January 28, 2019

Version October 2018:

January 30, 2019 (per FTM 10/15/2018. Scribner's error corrections:

- Renumber an internal reference in Section 13 in Article II;
- Eliminate appropriation language at the end of Section 39 of Article X as it was not part of the language of the bylaw that was voted upon and approved by the AG.
- 2019 Amended Article II, Section 13, to include Electronic Voting as a Town Meeting voting option.

Amended Article II, Section 3 to add a subsection F to require Boards/Committees to file their minutes with the Town Clerk's office.

Amended Article X, Section 28 by adding subsection D to include a \$10 late fee per month, up to 3 months, for dog registration fees.

Amended Article X to add a new section 44 to ban the sale of certain plastic food ware and polystyrene in Town.

- Approved by Town Meeting April 1, 2019. Approved by the Attorney General on April 26, 2019.
- 2020 Amended Article XXI, Section 5 (Art.11)
- Amended Article XI, Section 4 by adding P. (Article 13 ATM 6/21/2021) (Approved by Attorney General 9/24/2021)
- Select Board name change amended at Annual Town Meeting 4/25/2022 and approved by the Attorney General 6/27/2022
- 2022 Special Town Meeting 11/14/2022 under Article 5 Added Stormwater Management Special Permit as Article XXIII Added Storage of Commercial Materials and Cars as Article XXII Added Section 46 Driveway Entrances to Article X: Police and Other Regulations Numbered Construction Site Activity Section 45 of Article X: Police and Other Regulations Added Section A3 Junk Cars to Article XIV: Resident Parking Attorney General 2/16/2023
- Annual Town Meeting 4/3/2023 Article 10
 Added Board of Health revolving fund to Section 11 of Article IV, approved by the Attorney General 6/15/2023
- 2023 Special Town Meeting 11/13/2023 Articles 1, 9, 10
 Changed Article II, Section 1 date of Annual Town Meeting
 Changed Article XIV, Residential Parking
 Changed Article X, Section 30A to add two parking spaces
- 2024 Annual Town Meeting 5/21/2024 Articles 19 & 20 Attorney General Approval June 17, 2024

 Deleted Section 4, subsections 5&6 from Article I General Provisions
 - Added last sentence to Article X, section 23
- 2024 Special Town Meeting 11/18/2024 Article 2 Attorney General Approved March 5, 2025 Amended Article XXIII Stormwater Management

Table of Source Sections:

Article II

Section 13: 04/01/2019 (Art. 13)

Article II

Section 3: 04/01/2019 (Art. 14)

Article IV

Section 4: 10/16/2017 (Art. 11)

Article VI

Section 1: 10/15/2018 (Art. 1)

Article X – "Police and Other Regulations"

Section 28: 04/01/2019 (Art. 15) Section 30A: 10/16/2017 (Art. 7) Section 39 (C): 10/15/2018 (Art. 2) Section 43: 10/16/2017 (Art. 9) Section 44: 04/01/2019 (Art. 17)

Article XXI - "Affordable Housing Trust"

Section 1: 10/16/2017 (Art. 6) Section 3: 10/16/2017 (Art. 6) Section 12: 10/16/2017 (Art. 6)